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Report on the Group’s financial position.
SBB in 2016.

During the reporting period, consolidated net income for SBB 
was CHF 380.6 million (2015: CHF 245.7 million). The significant 
improvement was due in particular to higher profits from the 
disposal of real estate (CHF +83.1 million), the improved  financial 
result (CHF +78.2 million) and the recovery in freight services 
(earnings CHF +22.6 million compared to the previous year). 

Passenger Traffic generated earnings of CHF 139.2 million 
(CHF +8.7 million compared to the previous year). Passenger 
revenues rose compared to the previous year by CHF 10.5 mil-
lion in spite of the decrease in international  services. 

Real Estate generated earnings before compensation pay-
ments of CHF 432.6 million (CHF +90.2 million compared to 
the previous year) in particular due to the earnings from the 
disposal of real estate (CHF 221.1 million). Of this, CHF 150.0 mil-
lion in compensation was paid to finance Infrastructure and 
CHF 270.9 million to restructure the SBB Pension Fund. 

In 2016, Freight Services returned to the black 
(CHF +22.6 million compared to the previous year) with earnings 
of CHF 1.1 million thanks to the positive volume development 
at SBB Cargo International and additional savings as well as 
one-off effects.

As in previous years, Infrastructure also provided higher 
contributions to maintenance in 2016 which were not com-
pletely covered by the funds of the service-level agreement. 
This led to a negative result of CHF  –102.8  million (2015: 
CHF –96.3 million). 

Free cash flow amounted to CHF  –539.7  million (2015: 
CHF –522.6 million), in particular due to the employer contribu-
tion to stabilising the pension fund (CHF 690.0 million) and the 
Infrastructure (Network) deficit. Consequently, net interest-
bearing debt increased as a result of the negative free cash flow 
to CHF 8.8 billion, leading to a debt coverage ratio of 7.3 (pre-
vious year: 6.9). If no employer contribution had been made to 
stabilise the pension fund, if the deficits had not been taken 
over from Infrastructure (Network) (2013–2016) and if the invest-
ment contributions from the federal government and the cantons 
had been paid on schedule, the debt coverage ratio would have 
been 5.6 at the end of 2016.
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Consolidated net income was CHF 380.6 million and exceeded 
the previous year by CHF 134.9 million. 

The growth in operating income of CHF  201.5  million 
(+2.3 %) to CHF 8,987.7 million principally resulted from freight 
revenues (CHF +28.5 million), rental income (CHF +17.9 million) 
as well as public-sector funding (CHF +175.3 million). The latter 
grew in particular as a result of the takeover of the Gotthard 
Base Tunnel and taking additional infrastructure projects into 
operation (including the cross-city line Zurich at the end of 2015). 

Operating expenses (CHF 8,699.5 million) went up com-
pared to the previous year, chiefly due to greater depreciation 
(CHF  +190.3  million) and higher personnel expenses 
(CHF +47.1 million). 

In total, this led to a lower operating result compared to 
the previous year of CHF 288.2 million (CHF –18.7 million). 

The financial result at CHF –119.9 million improved year on 
year by CHF 78.2 million. The reasons for this were lower inter-
est expenses as well as impacts in the previous year due to the 
valuation allowance of positions in euro in the balance sheet. 

The non-operating result (CHF 224.9 million) exceeded the 
previous year by CHF 83.1 million as a result of higher profits 
from the disposal of real estate.

The investment volume at CHF  3,195.9  million was 
CHF 407.8 million lower than the previous year. 

Passenger Traffic invested CHF 578.2 million in improving 
its range of services as well as travelling comfort (2015: 
CHF 828.7 million). In addition to the acquisition of new trains 
(e. g. Giruno and ETR 610 multiple units), existing rolling stock 
was also modernised (e. g. double-deck coaches for the Zurich 
S-Bahn). The investments in passenger services were split into 
long-distance services (CHF 195.3 million; 2015: CHF 231.7 mil-
lion), commissioned regional services (CHF 268.2 million; 2015: 
CHF 497.6 million), and maintenance works and sales systems 
(CHF 114.7 million; 2015: CHF 99.4 million). 

Investments in the modernisation and expansion of railway 
station buildings as well as the development of central sites 
close to stations at Real Estate matched the previous year’s 
level with CHF 558.2 million (2015: CHF 551.4 million). 

In total, CHF 1,938.0 million (2015: CHF 2,055.9 million) 
was invested in maintaining and expanding the rail infrastructure 
with the aim of improving timetable stability and expanding rail 
services. 

Energy invested CHF 83.5 million (2015: CHF 127.4 million) 
in upgrading and maintaining energy production and transmis-
sion facilities.

Consolidated net income 2012–2016.
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The compensation for regional passenger services corre-
sponded to the costs of the services ordered by public-sector 
 authorities which were not covered by passenger revenues 
(CHF 624.4 million, CHF +22.1 million compared to the previous 
year). 

Loans from the infrastructure fund and the Railway infra-
structure fund (BIF) were provided primarily for the Cornavin–
Eaux-Vives–Annemasse line infrastructure enhancement, for 
preparations for the operation of the Gotthard line as well as 
various projects (e. g. Eppenberg Tunnel) connected to the future 
development of railway infrastructure (CHF  900.1  million, 
CHF –117.1 million compared to the previous year). 

On 1 June 2016, SBB took over the Gotthard Base Tunnel 
from AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd. The takeover increased the non-
current assets and public-sector loans for financing railway 
infrastructure by CHF 3,754.5 million. The takeover was carried 
out without any effect on liquidity, as a result of which this 
amount is not included here. Investment funding for the tunnel 
excavation amounting to CHF 5,944.1 million is not included 
here either. 

Public-sector funding 2012–2016. 
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Free cash flow after public-sector funding was CHF 17.1 million 
lower than the previous year (CHF  –539.7  million; 2015: 
CHF –522.6 million). The employer contribution to stabilising 
the pension fund amounting to CHF 690.0 million and the de-
layed receipt of investment contributions from the federal gov-
ernment and the cantons are offset by inflows as a result of due 
financial assets and lower investments.

For the purpose of replacement and expansion invest-
ments, SBB received CHF 2,142.0 million from the public sec-
tor in 2016 (2015: CHF 2,073.4 million). The increase compared 
to the previous year is in particular the result of higher contribu-
tions for maintenance.

Public-sector funding for Infrastructure covered any costs 
not covered by the statutory rail track charges for the provi-
sion and operation of the rail network and a network mainte-
nance contribution equivalent to reported depreciation 
(CHF 1,927.0 million, CHF +158.0 million compared to the pre-
vious year). This included grants to SBB Cargo Switzerland for 
rail freight (CHF 16.1 million, CHF –2.9 million compared to the 
previous year).

Free cash flow before and after public-sector 
funding 2012–2016. 
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Operating expenses rose by CHF  220.2  million to 
CHF 8,699.5 million compared to the previous year. 

Operating expenses before depreciation and amortisation 
increased slightly compared to the previous year to 
CHF 6,569.2 million (CHF +29.9 million). The rise in personnel 
expenses (CHF +47.1 million; mainly due to higher ordinary 
pension fund contributions) was partially compensated in this 
case by the lower cost of materials (CHF –30.6 million). 

In particular, taking the Gotthard Base Tunnel into operation 
in 2016 and the cross-city line Zurich at the end of 2015, new 
trains as well as investment properties led to an increase of 
depreciation of CHF 190.3 million.

Operating income rose by 2.3 % compared to the previous year 
to CHF 8,987.7 million. 

Passenger revenues increased only slightly year on year by 
CHF 10.5 million (+0.3 %). The growth in regional services was 
partially absorbed by the decline in international long-dis-
tance  services. After the decline in 2015, freight revenues 
 resumed a positive course thanks to SBB Cargo International 
(CHF +28.5 million; +3.5 %). 

Other income declined slightly compared to the previous 
year, amounting to CHF 819.9 million (–1.2 %). 

Public-sector grants included the revenue components for 
infrastructure operations and maintenance that are reflected in 
the income statement as well as grants for regional and freight 
services (CHF 2,466.3 million). The year-on-year increase of 
CHF 175.3 million (+7.7 %) resulted in particular from higher 
contributions to maintenance as a result of the takeover of the 
Gotthard Base Tunnel as well as taking additional infrastructure 
projects into operation (including the cross-city line Zurich at 
the end of 2015). 

Own work capitalised (CHF 1,097.5 million) reflected the 
share of self-generated assets. The slight decline compared to 
the previous year of CHF 18.7 million (–1.7 %) resulted from 
lower make-to-stock production.

Additional rental income resulted from taking new prem-
ises into operation in 2015 (including Europaallee Sihlpost and 
production panel G in Zurich) and led to an increase compared 
to the previous year (CHF +17.9 million; +4.1 %).

Operating income 2012–2016.
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Operating expenses 2012–2016.
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In 2016, the financial result was CHF –119.9 million (includes 
among other things interest expenditure, investment income 
and foreign currency effects). The improvement compared to 
the previous year (CHF +78.2 million) resulted from lower inter-
est expenses as a result of the current low-interest environment. 
In addition, the previous year was affected by the valuation 
allowance of positions in euro in the balance sheet as a result 
of the strong Swiss franc.

Financial result 2012–2016. 
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The increase of public-sector loans for financing the railway 
infrastructure in 2016, representing a rise of CHF 4,654.6 million 
to CHF 18,932.5 million, is due in particular to the takeover of 
the Gotthard Base Tunnel. The increase was also fuelled by 
major projects ordered by the cantons (including the expansion 
of the Cornavin–Eaux-Vives–Annemasse line).

Net interest-bearing debt (interest-bearing financial liabilities 
minus cash and cash equivalents) rose compared to 2015 by 
CHF 543.4 million to CHF 8,795.5 million due to the employer 
contribution to stabilising the pension fund (CHF 690.0 million). 

This was also a major factor in the increase of the debt 
coverage ratio (net interest-bearing debt divided by EBITDA, 
corrected by grants for infrastructure depreciation) from 6.9 in 
2015 to 7.3 in the reporting period. 

Other liabilities comprised in particular supplier invoices, 
deferred income and accrued expenses as well as provisions, 
and amounted to CHF 4,171.5 million. The decrease compared 
to the previous year of CHF 658.3 million is due to the use of 
the provision relating to the employer contribution to stabilising 
the pension fund. 

Tangible fixed assets and assets under construction in-
creased  in  the reporting period by CHF  4,764.5  million to 
CHF 40,865.9 million. The increase is due in particular to the 
takeover of the Gotthard Base Tunnel from AlpTransit Gotthard 
Ltd (CHF 3,754.5 million). In addition, ETR 610 multiple units 
were taken into operation and construction progressed on real 
estate. 

Financial and intangible assets amounted to 
CHF 1,379.6 million in 2016 (2015: CHF 1,448.0 million). In 
particular in 2016, investments were made in the renewal of 
sales and distribution systems for passenger services. The in-
crease of current assets compared to the previous year 
(CHF +88.8 million) resulted in particular from the rise in trade 
accounts receivable. 

Balance sheet breakdown (equity and liabilities) 
2012–2016.
CHF millions 
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Balance sheet breakdown (assets) 2012–2016.
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Passenger Traffic.
Earnings amounted to CHF 139.2 million (CHF +8.7 million 
compared to the previous year). Passenger revenues increased 
by CHF 10.5 million to CHF 3,165.2 million. At the same time, 
international passenger services decreased as a result of the 
tense security situation in neighbouring countries. The lower 
operating result (CHF 192.8 million, CHF –45.0 million compared 
to the previous year) was compensated by the improved finan-
cial result (previous-year impacts from the valuation allowance 
of positions in Euro).

Real Estate.
Earnings for Real Estate before compensation payments 
amounted to CHF 432.6 million (CHF +90.2 million compared 
to the previous year). The operating result was increased in spite 
of negative effects from purchasing tourism and online retail 
(CHF +7.1 million), thanks to taking investment properties and 
new sales premises in railway stations into operation. The 
 improved result is to be explained by higher profit from real 
estate disposals (CHF +80.6 million), among other factors. In 
total, CHF 150.0 million in compensation was paid to finance 
Infrastructure and CHF 270.9 million to restructure the pension 
fund, leading to earnings after compensation payments of 
CHF 11.7 million.

Freight.
In 2016, it proved possible to return to the black with earnings 
of CHF 1.1 million (CHF +22.6 million compared to the previous 
year). The improved earnings were made possible in particular 
by a positive trend in volumes at SBB Cargo International and 
additional savings as well as one-off effects (release of restruc-
turing provisions, amongst other things).

Infrastructure.
Infrastructure’s result for the year was CHF –102.8 million (2015: 
CHF  –96.3  million), of which Network accounted for 
CHF –123.4 million and Energy CHF 20.6 million. 
The railway infrastructure was burdened by the low level of 
preventive maintenance in the years from 1995 to 2010 and 
high utilisation at the same time. To ensure the sustained qual-
ity and safety of the tracks, Infrastructure (Network) continued 
to provide increased services for infrastructure maintenance in 
2016. These were not completely covered by the funds from 
the service-level agreement.

Segment earnings 2012–2016. 
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Passenger Traffic.
Free cash flow before public-sector funding in the reporting 
period amounted to CHF 129.1 million. The rise of CHF 313.5 mil-
lion compared to the previous year (CHF –184.4 million) r esulted 
from lower investments.

Real Estate.
Free cash flow in the reporting period amounted to 
CHF –415.5 million (2015: CHF –336.5 million). As in the previ-
ous year, investments in customer-friendly stations and se-
lected investment properties for enhancing profitability were 
financed overall from real estate business. The negative free 
cash flow resulted from the compensation payment for financ-
ing infrastructure and restructuring the pension fund 
(CHF 420.9 million in total).

Freight.
Free cash flow increased year on year by CHF 15.7 million to 
CHF 16.8 million as a result of the improved operating result.

Infrastructure.
Free cash flow before public-sector financing and after com-
pensation payments was CHF –2,180.9 million in the reporting 
period (2015: CHF –2,168.7 million) and was affected by the 
delayed receipt of investment contributions from the federal 
government and the cantons, among other factors. The largest 
items in the free cash flow were in particular the investments 
commissioned by the federal government and cantons 
(CHF –1,903.4 million for improving services, including the  major 
Cornavin–Eaux-Vives–Annemasse project) and the Infrastructure 
(Network) deficit (CHF –123.4 million).

Free cash flow by segment 2012–2016 
(before public-sector funding and after compensation payments).
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Outlook.
Changing customer requirements as well as an increase in in-
termodal competition lead to an increase in requirements in the 
railway business. This presents SBB with significant commercial 
and financial challenges, in particular because we intend to 
secure our successes, such as a top customer satisfaction 
rating, in the long term. SBB is undergoing a phase of significant 
investments, including the upgrading of existing trains and the 
purchase of new rolling stock (e. g. as a result of taking the 
Gotthard Base Tunnel into operation). It is important to secure 
the operating result and limit indebtedness over the coming 
years at the same time as reducing it in the long term. Overall 
system costs of the railways will increase out to 2030, in 
 response to which SBB introduced the RailFit20/30 efficiency 
programme as a means of reducing costs. Around 300  indi-
vidual measures will result in savings of CHF 1.2 billion – all with 
a sense of proportion, without making any compromises on 
safety and with an optimum cost-benefit ratio for our customers. 
An equally important factor will be to increase income, because 
SBB will have to expect ongoing reductions in public-sector 
funding while the costs of alternative means of transport will 
decrease significantly in the medium to long term. As a result, 
it is important to increase the occupancy rate further. For ex-
ample, SBB Cargo will improve its market position and conse-
quently the occupancy rate of the railway infrastructure by tak-
ing measures such as the “Wagonload Traffic 2017” project, 
new booking systems and transport chains. Opening up to 
potential partners could also strengthen the market position of 
SBB Cargo; such partners could support sustainable growth 
with additional industry expertise or business volume, for ex-
ample. The situation for SBB Cargo remains tense because its 
return to the black in 2016 was assisted not only by the positive 
trend in volumes at SBB Cargo International but also by some 
one-off effects.

In order to ensure that an attractive service can continue 
to be offered in terms of price and performance, it is necessary 
to establish a sound financial basis so that the successful his-
tory of SBB extending back over more than 100 years can also 
be continued into the future.
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Consolidated income statement.

1 January – 31 December.

CHF millions Note 2016 2015

Operating income
Traffic revenues 1 4,145.9 4,108.9
Public-sector funding 2 2,466.3 2,291.0
Rental income from real estate 3 458.0 440.1
Other income 4 819.9 830.0
Own work capitalised 5 1,097.5 1,116.2
Total operating income 8,987.7 8,786.2

Operating expenses
Cost of materials 6 –720.5 –751.1
Personnel expenses 7 –4,168.1 –4,121.0
Other operating expenses 8 –1,680.5 –1,667.1
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 9, 20 –1,984.0 –1,812.1
Amortisation on intangible assets 9, 21 –146.3 –127.9
Total operating expenses –8,699.5 –8,479.3

Operating result/EBIT 288.2 306.9

Financial result 10 –119.9 –198.1
Ordinary result 168.3 108.8

Non-operating result 11 224.9 141.8
Profit before income taxes 393.2 250.5

Income taxes 12 –10.1 –5.4
Minority interests 13 –2.5 0.5
Consolidated net income 380.6 245.7

The Notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet.

Assets.

CHF millions Note 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14 403.0 540.2
Trade accounts receivable 15 657.3 405.9
Other receivables 16 116.4 183.5
Inventories and work in progress 17 324.8 327.9
Prepayments and accrued income 18 560.8 516.0
Total current assets 2,062.3 1,973.5

Non-current assets
Financial assets 19 386.3 484.9
Tangible fixed assets 20 32,827.0 28,223.5
Tangible fixed assets under construction 20 8,038.9 7,877.8
Intangible assets 21 993.3 963.1
Total non-current assets 42,245.5 37,549.3

Total assets 44,307.8 39,522.8

The Notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Equity and liabilities.

CHF millions Note 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Liabilities
Short-term financial liabilities 22 1,144.7 273.0
Short-term public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing 23 5.6 39.3
Trade accounts payable 24 708.2 673.6
Other short-term liabilities 25 139.8 135.8
Accrued liabilities and deferred income 26 1,586.0 1,523.9
Short-term provisions 27 305.7 970.6
Total short-term liabilities 3,890.1 3,616.2

Long-term financial liabilities 22 8,053.8 8,519.4
Long-term public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing 23 18,926.8 14,238.6
Other long-term liabilities 25 940.1 980.9
Long-term provisions 27 491.7 545.0
Total long-term liabilities 28,412.4 24,283.8

Total liabilities 32,302.5 27,900.0

Equity
Share capital 9,000.0 9,000.0
Capital reserves 2,069.1 2,069.1
Retained earnings/accumulated loss 462.7 217.3
Consolidated net income 380.6 245.7
Equity, excl. minority interests 11,912.5 11,532.1

Minority interests 13 92.8 90.8
Total equity 12,005.3 11,622.8

Total equity and liabilities 44,307.8 39,522.8

The Notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement.

1 January – 31 December.

CHF millions Note 2016 2015

Consolidated net income 380.6 245.7
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 2,127.7 1,931.6
Loss from impairment 2.6 8.5
Decrease/increase of provisions –718.1 21.7
Other income that does not affect the fund –91.2 –61.1
Profit from the disposal of non-current assets –238.0 –155.5
Pro-rata losses from application of equity method 0.7 0.3
Earnings from minority interests 2.5 –0.5
Change in net current assets affecting cash flow 28 –47.5 –130.6
Cash inflow from operating activities including federal government  
contri butions for depreciation of infrastructure 1,419.4 1,860.1
Federal government contributions for depreciation of infrastructure –1,241.3 –1,057.6
Cash inflow from operating activities excluding federal  government 
contri butions for depreciation of infrastructure 178.1 802.5

Outflows from the liquidation of consolidated companies 0.0 –6.3
Outflows for additions of tangible fixed assets/assets under construction –3,019.4 –3,404.7
Inflows from disposal of tangible fixed assets 184.8 208.1
Outflows for additions of financial assets 0.0 –8.5
Inflows from disposal of financial assets 151.4 6.3
Outflows for additions of intangible assets –176.5 –199.0
Inflows from disposal of intangible assets 0.0 5.7
Cash drain from investing activities –2,859.7 –3,398.5

Financing of rail infrastructure investment by non-repayable federal government grants 1,241.3 1,057.6
Public-sector loan for financing of rail infrastructure 900.7 1,015.9
Issuance/repayment of short-term financial liabilities 334.4 –162.9
Issuance of long-term financial liabilities 68.5 345.9
Dividend payments to minority shareholders –0.4 –0.8
Payment of capital of minority shareholders 0.0 0.8
Cash inflow from financing activities 2,544.5 2,256.3

Total cash flow –137.2 –339.7

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 540.2 880.1
Difference on foreign currency translation 0.0 –0.2
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 403.0 540.2
Change in cash and cash equivalents –137.2 –339.7

The Notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Free cash flow.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Cash inflow from operating activities 178.1 802.5
Cash drain from investing activities –2,859.7 –3,398.5
Free cash flow before public-sector financing of rail infrastructure –2,681.6 –2,596.0

Cash inflow from public-sector financing of rail infrastructure 2,142.0 2,073.4
Free cash flow after public-sector financing of rail infrastructure –539.7 –522.6

Cash inflow from financing for commercial investments and pension fund restructuring 402.5 182.9

Total cash flow –137.2 –339.7
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity.

CHF millions Share capital Capital 
 reserves 

 (premium)

Retained 
earnings

Difference on 
foreign 

currency 
translation

Total excl.  
minority 

 interests

Minority 
 interests

Total incl. 
 minority 

 interests

Equity as at 1. 1. 2015 9,000.0 2,069.1 225.7 –6.4 11,288.4 89.1 11,377.5

Change to scope of consolidation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.7 2.7
Dividends 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.2 –0.2
Consolidated net income 0.0 0.0 245.7 0.0 245.7 –0.5 245.2
Currency translation effect 0.0 0.0 0.0 –2.0 –2.0 –0.3 –2.3
Equity as at 31. 12. 2015 9,000.0 2,069.1 471.4 –8.4 11,532.1 90.8 11,622.8

Dividends in scope of consolidation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.4 –0.4
Consolidated net income 0.0 0.0 380.6 0.0 380.6 2.5 383.2
Currency translation effect 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.2 –0.2 0.0 –0.2
Equity as at 31. 12. 2016 9,000.0 2,069.1 852.0 –8.6 11,912.5 92.8 12,005.3

The share capital is divided into 180 million fully paid-up registered shares with a par value of CHF 50 each. The Swiss Confederation is the sole shareholder.
As at 31. 12. 2016, non-distributable, statutory and legal reserves totalled CHF 2,245.4 million (previous year: CHF 2,379.1 million).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2016.
Principles of consolidation.

General.
The accounting principles applied to these consolidated financial statements meet the requirements of Swiss company law and the Swiss Accounting  
and Reporting Recommendations in their entirety (Swiss GAAP FER), and give a true and fair view of the financial position, cash flows and results  
of operations. 

Closing date.
The reporting period for all consolidated companies covers twelve months. The financial year for all consolidated entities with the exception  
of Kraftwerk Rupperswil-Auenstein AG (closing date: 30 September) is identical to the calendar year. 

Scope of consolidation.
The consolidated financial statements comprise the separate financial statements of Swiss Federal Railways (SBB AG) and those interests in which 
SBB AG directly or indirectly holds the majority of the voting shares.
The 100 % interest in AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd is not consolidated, but is included using the equity method. Under a special agreement between the 
Swiss Confederation and SBB, the federal government is directly responsible for its management, as a result of which the criterion of control is not 
met in this case.
The 74.42 % interest in öV Preis- und Vertriebssystemgesellschaft AG is also not consolidated, but is included using the equity method. The company  
is not controlled by virtue of the voting rights provisions in the articles of incorporation.
As well as managing cross-border lease transactions, SBB also liaises with special purpose entities (SPE). SBB has neither shares nor share options, 
voting or any other general rights in these SPEs. As a result, they are not included in the scope of consolidation. These operations are recognised  
as finance leases in the balance sheet.
The companies in the scope of consolidation are shown in the list of shareholdings on page 120.

Consolidation method.
Acquisition accounting is performed using the Anglo-Saxon purchase method. Intra-group assets, liabilities, expenses and income are offset against 
each other. Profits on intra-group accounts not yet realised through sales to third parties are eliminated on consolidation.
On initial consolidation of a company, its assets and liabilities are revalued in accordance with uniform principles. The difference between the resulting 
equity and the purchase price (goodwill or negative goodwill) is recognised in the balance sheet and amortised using the straight-line method over  
five years.
The full consolidation method has been applied to all companies in which SBB AG holds a direct or indirect interest of more than 50 %. Assets, 
liabilities, expenses and income are stated in full. Interests of third-party shareholders in equity and profit or loss are shown separately.
In the case of true joint ventures, the proportionate consolidation method is applied. This gives the partners absolutely equal influence and control 
over the company. Assets, liabilities, expenses and income are stated pro rata. 
Associated companies with an interest of between 20 % and 50 % or companies with an interest of exactly 50 % which do not meet the conditions  
for proportionate consolidation are included using the equity method.

Minority interests.
Disclosed minority interests in the Group’s equity and profits correspond to the third-party interests in the equity and profit or loss of the respective 
companies determined on the basis of the current shareholder structure.

Foreign currency translation.
Amounts from consolidated financial statements in foreign currency are translated using the year-end exchange rate method. Assets and liabilities  
are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Equity is valued at the historical exchange rate. Income, expenses and cash flows are valued at  
the average rate for the period. The translation differences arising from the application of this method are offset against the retained earnings/
accumulated losses and are not reflected in the income statement.

The following rates of exchange were applied:

Average exchange rate Average exchange rate Exchange rate on  
the balance sheet date

Exchange rate on  
the balance sheet date

2016 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

EUR 1.09 1.07 1.07 1.08
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Valuation and classification principles.

General.
The consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements of the Group companies, prepared in accordance with uniform valuation 
and classification principles. All assets and liabilities are valued on an item-by-item basis.
Amounts are presented in millions of Swiss francs (CHF) rounded to one decimal place, which can result in minor rounding errors.

Current assets.
Cash and cash equivalents are composed of cash, balances on postal and bank accounts, and highly liquid financial investments with a remaining 
term of up to three months. They are measured at their nominal value. Cash in SBB ATMs is accounted for within the item “Cash in transit” under cash 
and cash equivalents.
Trade accounts receivable and other receivables are stated at their nominal value, less economically necessary valuation allowances. Actual credit 
risks are considered individually while a valuation allowance is recognised for potential default risks in accordance with the maturity structure and 
based on past experience.
Inventories and work in progress which are primarily for the Group’s own use are stated at purchase or manufacturing cost, observing the principle 
of the lower of cost or market value. Valuation allowances are recognised for slow-moving goods and items with reduced marketability.

Non-current assets.
Financial assets comprise long-term securities related to buy-back options for lease liabilities and unconsolidated interests where up to 20 % of  
the voting rights are held, and are valued at historical cost less appropriate economically necessary valuation allowances. Investments in associates 
include unconsolidated interests where at least 20 % of the voting rights are held and are accounted for using the equity method. Long-term loans  
to third parties and associates are stated at their nominal value less valuation allowances for actual credit risks. Assets relating to the pension 
schemes and employer contribution reserves are also recognised as financial assets. If there is a limited waiver of use on employer contribution 
reserves, an impairment is recognised. Deferred taxes for temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards are recognised if it is likely that they  
will be realised through future taxable profits.
Tangible fixed assets are valued at acquisition or production cost. These assets are depreciated and impairment is recorded as economically 
necessary in subsequent valuation. They are depreciated using the straight-line method over the anticipated useful life of the assets. The estimated 
useful life in years is as follows:

Useful life in years
Vehicles
– Railway vehicles 20–33
– Road and other vehicles 5–20
Trackbed, civil engineering and railway installations
– Trackbed 50
– Civil engineering 25
– Railway installations 20–25
– Transmission lines 33
Other tangible fixed assets
– Site development, supply and disposal installations 15–25
– Pressure pipes, cisterns/sand traps 40–50
– Other hydraulic structures 80
– Tools, furniture, instruments 5–10
– IT hardware 4–8
– Telecommunication 4–20
– Technical, electrical and mechanical installations 25–33
Buildings
–  Residential/administrative/commercial and office buildings 55–75
– Other buildings 40–60

Interest expenses incurred in connection with generated assets are capitalised where a significant construction period is necessary before commis-
sioning can take place. They are capitalised based on the average asset value using the weighted average of the interest-bearing liabilities.
Leased assets, which in substance are equivalent to an asset purchase (finance lease), are recognised as tangible fixed assets and depreciated over 
the same useful life as similar assets. Lease liabilities are stated under financial liabilities. Profits from sale-and-leaseback trans actions are deferred 
and released over the term of the contract. Losses are charged directly to the result for the period.
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Undeveloped land is considered to be land that is located within a building zone and on which no buildings currently exist.
Tangible fixed assets under construction comprise the accrued capitalisable project costs of a project for tangible fixed assets. Non-capitalised 
project costs are charged to the income statement as incurred. 
Intangible assets comprise purchased non-material items (goodwill, water rights, rights of way, other rights and software). These are amortised on  
a straight-line basis over the corresponding useful life. No intangible assets have been generated internally. The estimated useful life of the intangible 
assets in years is as follows:

Useful life in years
Goodwill 5
Rights as per agreement
Software 5–8

Accrued capitalisable project costs are stated under intangible assets under construction. Non-capitalised project costs are charged to the income 
statement as incurred.
All assets are reviewed as at each balance sheet date to identify any indications of their carrying amount exceeding their respective recoverable 
amount (the higher of market value or value in use – i. e. impairment testing). If an impairment is in evidence, the carrying amount is written 
down to the recoverable value and the impairment amount charged against earnings for the period. 

Liabilities.
With the exception of provisions, liabilities are stated at their nominal value. Financial liabilities with a remaining term of more than twelve months  
are deemed long-term.
Financial liabilities include loans and advances received from federal government and the third parties, such as liabilities to banks, lease liabilities, 
bonds and liabilities to SBB staff accounts.
Public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing relate to federal or cantonal loans and are usually interest-free and conditionally repayable 
loans.
Provisions are recognised if there are legal and constructive obligations in accordance with the requirements of Swiss GAAP FER 23. If time is  
a significant factor, the provision is discounted at the refinancing rate to the federal government. 
Tax provisions recognised as long-term provisions comprise deferred taxes. They include all effects of taxes on income arising from the different 
requirements of commercial or local tax law or from the internal valuation principles of the Group. Provisions are recognised using the liability method 
and periodically adapted to any changes in local tax laws. 
The occupational pension plan for employees of SBB AG, SBB Cargo AG and certain other subsidiaries is the responsibility of the SBB Pension 
Fund, which has been an independent foundation since 1 January 1999. The SBB Pension Fund is a defined contribution plan. The other subsidiaries 
either have affiliation contracts with other pension plans or have their own plans.
The economic effects of projected benefit obligations must be stated in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER 16, irrespective of the legal form of  
the pension plans and schemes. This substance-over-form approach requires the Pension Fund liabilities or assets to be carried in the financial 
statements of the associated companies, although no legally binding effect emerges to the benefit or detriment of the pension funds.
The economic effects of deficits or surpluses are determined on the basis of the most recent available (interim) financial statements of the pension 
funds. Investigations are undertaken to establish whether other assets (economic benefits) or liabilities (economic obligations) exist at the balance 
sheet date in addition to the contributions and related deferrals taken into account. Economic benefits arise from the possibility of a positive effect  
on the company’s future cash flow (e. g. from reductions in contributions) as a result of a pension fund surplus. Economic obligations arise from  
the possibility that a pension fund deficit may adversely affect future cash flow in the event that the company wishes – or is required – to be involved  
in the financing (e. g. through restructuring contributions).
Changes in these economic effects are recognised in the income statement under personnel expenses.
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Income statement.
The income comprises the inflow of the commercial benefit from the sale of services as part of ordinary operating activities. The income is reported 
following deduction of price reductions, discounts and credit card fees. The income is recorded at the time when the service is provided.
The most important revenue sources for SBB are passenger and freight revenues, public-sector funding and rental income from real estate.
The passenger revenues comprise the SBB portion of the revenue income from single ticket sales and travelcard sales such as GA, Half-Fare or 
regional travelcards. The SBB portion is calculated based on counts and surveys conducted by the Union of Public Transport. The recorded ticket 
structure, the counted passengers and the distances covered are extrapolated into revenues for each transport enterprise.
The freight revenues are recorded on the basis of the transports carried out in the period.
The public-sector funding comprises payments by the federal government and cantons for the rail infrastructure and regional passenger services  
in the amount of the uncovered costs.
The rental income from real estate is revenues from rental of shop premises in railway stations as well as offices and apartments accrued  
for the period.
Currency hedging effects flow into the financial result.

Derivatives.
SBB’s treasury policy is geared to minimise risks. Derivatives are therefore used only for hedging underlying transactions.
Hedging instruments are valued in the same way as the hedged underlying transaction, and are recognised in the income statement at the time  
the underlying transaction is realised.

Contingent liabilities and assets.
Sureties, guarantees, pledges and other liabilities of a contingent nature are regarded as contingent liabilities. These are disclosed at their nominal 
value. Contingent assets are disclosed if the inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Other obligations not included in the balance sheet.
This item includes all other obligations entered into which cannot be terminated within one year. They are disclosed at their nominal value. This  
item largely contains investment and energy purchase commitments.
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Detailed notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
G4–13

 
G4–22

0.1 Changes to accounting principles.
SBB has applied the following change to existing standards which are binding for consolidated financial statements from 1 January 2016 onwards:
Reclassification for the recognition of turnover:
The recognition of turnover was reclassified in framework 12 of the Swiss GAAP FER. In addition, Swiss GAAP FER 3 and 6 have been supplemented 
by new approaches to presentation and disclosure.

0.2 Changes to scope of consolidation.
The scope of consolidation has changed as follows since 1 January 2016:
– Foundation of RT&S Lokführer Akademie GmbH, Duisburg (December 2016)

1 Traffic revenues.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Passenger 3,165.2 3,154.7
 long-distance services 2,318.9 2,340.4
 regional services 846.3 814.3
Freight 850.5 822.0
Operating services 48.2 44.3
Infrastructure (train path revenues) 82.0 87.9
Traffic revenues 4,145.9 4,108.9

Traffic revenues increased by a total of CHF 37.0 million (+0.9 %). 
Whereas passenger revenues increased due to expansions of the offer in regional traffic (including in the Zurich and Vaud regions), international 
long-distance services posted a decrease.
Quantitative growth in international freight traffic led to a higher income of CHF 28.5 million (+3.5 %).
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2 Public-sector funding.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Grants for regional passenger services
Federal government 293.6 280.3
Cantons 330.9 322.1
Total grants for regional passenger services 624.4 602.3

Federal government grants for the rail infrastructure arising from service-level 
agreements
Depreciation on infrastructure 1,241.3 1,081.6
Non-capitalised portions of investment expenses 165.9 165.5
Operating grant for infrastructure 296.9 295.7
Grants for the infrastructure of the subsidiaries in regional passenger services (cantons) 0.0 8.3
Total government grants from service-level agreements 1,704.1 1,551.1

Contributions for non-capitalised portions of investments funded by special financing
Federal government 108.6 82.9
Cantons 13.1 35.7
Total contributions to investments funded by special financing 121.7 118.5

Total grants for rail infrastructure 1,825.8 1,669.7

Federal government grants to SBB Cargo for freight 16.1 19.0
Total grants for freight services 16.1 19.0

Public-sector funding 2,466.3 2,291.0

Grants for commissioned regional passenger services are paid to compensate SBB for costs not covered by passenger revenues.
The rise of CHF 156.1 million (+9.4 %) in total public-sector funding for rail infrastructure was driven by the increase of maintenance expenditure as  
a result of higher depreciation.
Federal government grants for infrastructure also include benefits of CHF 52.0 million (previous year: CHF 52.0 million) paid to SBB AG which were 
passed on to the Zurich transport authority (ZVV) (“preferential compensation”). This sum is not directly linked to services performed by SBB AG but  
is forwarded in full to the ZVV by deducting it from the cantonal grants for regional passenger services in accordance with the disclosure practice 
specified by the Federal Office of Transport (FOT).

3 Rental income from real estate.
Newly opened premises in Zurich such as Europaallee and WestLink as well as higher income in the railway stations caused a rise of CHF 17.9 million 
(+4.1 %) in rental income.
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4 Other income.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Services 252.7 249.8
Maintenance and servicing work 35.8 40.6
Rental income 67.2 66.5
Energy-related revenues 71.6 77.3
Foreign currency exchange 37.6 39.0

Commissions 88.1 91.0
Sales of printed matter and materials 34.4 31.5
Cost participations 102.4 124.4
Grants for construction projects 30.3 26.2
Contributions of regional passenger services abroad 27.2 27.1
Sundry other income 72.8 56.5
Other income 819.9 830.0

Other income declined by CHF 10.1 million (–1.2 %) year on year.

5 Own work capitalised.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Investment orders 739.7 731.9
Stock orders 357.8 384.3
Own work capitalised 1,097.5 1,116.2

Investment activity in rail infrastructure continued to increase, leading to slightly higher amounts of own work capitalised for investment orders.  
On the other hand, lower volumes of revised vehicles resulted in a decrease of stock orders.

6 Cost of materials.
Vehicle maintenance was reduced because of lower volumes, especially with the InterCity tilting trains, as well as a decrease of costs. The cost  
of materials for rail infrastructure maintenance remained nearly unchanged.

7 Personnel expenses.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Wages and salaries 3,032.4 3,015.2

Temporary personnel 383.2 360.2
Social security costs 571.1 564.7
Personnel expenses for Labour Market Centre (AMC) 2.8 7.9
Other personnel expenses 178.5 173.1
Personnel expenses 4,168.1 4,121.0

Personnel expenses grew by CHF 47.1 million (+1.1 %).
The reason for this increase was the increase of construction and maintenance volume which was expressed in an increase of wages and salaries  
and personnel rentals as well as the start of operation of the Gotthard Base Tunnel. Moreover, the overtime credit balance increased.
Other personnel expenses increased above all due to the voluntary payment made by SBB into the newly formed national compensation fund  
for asbestos victims.
The average number of full-time positions for the year increased by 38 to 33,119.
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8 Other operating expenses.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Rail services 304.1 287.5
Lease of plant 53.2 52.1
Third-party services for maintenance, repair and replacement 445.1 437.6
Vehicle costs 140.5 124.6
Energy costs 131.7 135.1
Administrative costs 92.0 95.4
IT costs 183.8 188.7
Advertising costs 67.9 71.7
Licences, duties and fees 88.4 79.6
Input tax reductions on grants/public-sector funding 89.9 82.5
Sundry operating expenses 84.0 112.3
Other operating expenses 1,680.5 1,667.1

Other operating expenses increased by CHF 13.4 million (+0.8 %) year on year.
Railway operating payments increased by CHF 16.6 million. This is due to the growth in freight service volume, amongst other factors. This also 
explains the higher vehicle costs, which led not only to higher costs for hiring in vehicles at Passenger Traffic but also a rise of CHF 15.9 million.
In order to improve the status of the network infrastructure further, third-party services for maintenance, repair and replacement were increased.
The expenses stated under the item “Input tax reductions on grants/public-sector funding” are based on the VAT regulations applicable to public 
transport operators. SBB AG uses flat tax rates to calculate an input tax reduction on the grants it receives, instead of a reduction in proportion  
to the composition of its total turnover.

9  Write-downs of financial assets, depreciation on tangible fixed assets and amortisation  
on intangible assets.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Write-downs of financial assets 0.0 0.4
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 1,900.0 1,758.5
Amortisation on intangible assets 142.4 125.1
Write-downs of net carrying amounts from disposals of assets 88.0 56.0
Write-downs of financial assets, depreciation on tangible fixed assets and amortisation 
on intangible assets 2,130.3 1,940.1

Depreciation, write-downs and amortisation increased by CHF 190.2 million (+9.8 %). In tangible fixed assets, increased investing activities in 
infrastructure projects (such as the cross-city line Zurich and takeover of the Gotthard Base Tunnel), taking new rolling stock into operation at 
Passenger Traffic and openings of new real estate in Zurich led to this situation. Amortisation on intangible assets increased as a result of taking  
new software solutions into operation in the Infrastructure and Passenger Traffic Divisions.
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10 Financial result.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Interest and investment income from third parties 1.9 2.6
Interest income from associated companies 0.1 0.4
Interest expense – third parties –96.4 –119.5
Interest expense – shareholder loans –50.1 –48.9
Associated companies’ share in profit 3.8 5.6
Foreign currency income 9.8 –41.3
Other financial income 11.2 3.1
Financial result –119.9 –198.1

The interest expense from liabilities to third parties includes the interest expense for liabilities to pension funds (see “Related party transactions”).

The interest expense – third parties – decreased by CHF 23.1 million, amongst other reasons due to less expensive refinancing. Foreign currency 
income improved by CHF 51.1 million because the previous year had been significantly negatively affected by the decrease of value of the euro.

11 Non-operating result.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Profit from real estate disposals 225.9 142.3
Losses on real estate disposals –1.0 –0.5
Non-operating result 224.9 141.8

Profit from real estate disposals is used entirely for the restructuring of the SBB Pension Fund.

12 Income taxes.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Current income taxes 8.9 6.0
Deferred income taxes 1.1 –0.6
Income taxes 10.1 5.4

Deferred taxes for subsidiaries’ unused tax loss carry-forwards amount to CHF 13.0 million (previous year: CHF 12.7 million). No deferred taxes on loss carry-overs were capitalised.

With the exception of auxiliary facilities and properties unconnected with SBB’s licensed transport activities, SBB AG is exempt from federal and 
cantonal taxes on earnings, capital, capital gains from sold property and real estate tax.

13 Minority interests.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Beginning of the period 1. 1. 90.8 89.1
Change in scope of consolidation 0.0 2.7
Dividends –0.4 –0.2
Net income share 2.5 –0.5
Currency translation effect 0.0 –0.3
End of the period 31. 12. 92.8 90.8
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14 Cash and cash equivalents.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Cash 63.0 71.1
Postal account 55.4 189.1
Banks 103.3 108.0
Term deposits 50.0 50.0
Cash in transit 131.4 122.0
Cash and cash equivalents 403.0 540.2

15 Trade accounts receivable.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Trade accounts receivable
 from third parties 459.1 390.1
 from federal government as shareholder 177.2 4.7
 from associated companies 37.6 26.2
Bad debt allowance –16.7 –15.1
Trade accounts receivable 657.3 405.9

The increase of trade accounts receivable is due to a higher level of outstanding receivables from the federal government and cantons for investment 
contributions as at the balance sheet date.

16 Other receivables.
Other receivables consist of input tax credits arising from value added tax and advance payments made to suppliers.

17 Inventories and work in progress.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Inventories 501.0 498.7
Work in progress 23.3 27.7
Impairment –199.5 –198.5
Inventories and work in progress 324.8 327.9

There were no prepayments for customer orders during the year under review (previous year: none).

18 Prepaid expenses and accrued income.
Prepaid expenses and accrued income comprise services to other transport operators which have not yet been billed and other accrued revenues.
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19 Financial assets.

CHF millions Securities Investments  
in associated 

companies

Loans to third 
parties

Loans to 
associated 
companies

Pension fund 
assets

Total

Net carrying amounts 1. 1. 2015 199.5 189.1 62.7 43.9 1.0 496.2

Acquisition costs
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2015 208.6 189.1 63.6 43.9 1.9 507.1
Change to scope of consolidation 0.0 –9.7 0.0 –6.6 0.0 –16.2
Change in valuation 2.4 –0.3 –3.4 0.0 0.0 –1.3
Additions 0.3 0.1 12.0 0.0 0.8 13.3
Disposals –0.2 0.0 –5.8 0.0 –0.3 –6.3
Reclassifications 0.0 0.0 –0.3 0.0 0.0 –0.3

End of the period 31. 12. 2015 211.2 179.3 66.1 37.3 2.3 496.2

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2015 –9.1 0.0 –0.9 0.0 –0.9 –10.9
Additions –0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.4
End of the period 31. 12. 2015 –9.5 0.0 –0.9 0.0 –0.9 –11.3

Net carrying amounts 31. 12. 2015 201.7 179.3 65.2 37.3 1.4 484.9

Acquisition costs
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 211.2 179.3 66.1 37.3 2.3 496.2
Change in valuation 0.7 –0.7 –0.3 0.0 0.0 –0.3
Additions 1.1 0.0 39.1 0.0 0.0 40.3
Disposals –128.1 0.0 –10.1 –0.1 –0.3 –138.6
Reclassifications 0.0 36.0 0.0 –36.0 0.0 0.0
End of the period 31. 12. 2016 85.0 214.6 94.8 1.3 2.0 397.6

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 –9.5 0.0 –0.9 0.0 –0.9 –11.3
End of the period 31. 12. 2016 –9.5 0.0 –0.9 0.0 –0.9 –11.3

Net carrying amounts 31. 12. 2016 75.5 214.6 93.9 1.3 1.1 386.3

The securities column contains other investments with a net carrying amount of CHF 38.5 million (previous year: CHF 38.6 million). 
Information about investing activities with no effect on liquidity:
The additions contain non-cash transactions amounting to CHF 40.3 million (previous year: CHF 4.4 million) which are largely due to the delayed exchange of a property with a  
value of CHF 33.4 million.

Securities classified as non-current assets comprise long-term structured financial assets related to buy-back options in lease liabilities. The disposals 
contain maturities in the reporting period. The reclassifications involve the conversion of a shareholder loan into equity at the associate company, Nant 
de Drance SA.

Investments in associated companies.

Share of equity

Net carrying amounts 1. 1. 2016 179.3
Increase of share capital Nant de Drance SA 36.0
Disposals 0.0
Dividends received –4.5
Attributable profits 3.8
Net carrying amounts 31. 12. 2016 214.6
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20 Tangible fixed assets and assets under construction.

CHF millions Vehicles  
 (incl. leasing)

Trackbed, 
civil  

engineering, 
and railway 
installations

Other 
tangible fixed 

assets

Land Buildings Total   
tangible fixed 

assets

Tangible fixed 
assets under 
construction 
and prepay - 

ments

Total

Net carrying amounts 1. 1. 2015 7,141.7 13,749.6 2,207.3 1,568.3 2,569.7 27,236.5 7,039.2 34,275.7

Acquisition costs
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2015 16,346.8 23,007.2 6,801.8 1,576.9 4,780.5 52,513.1 7,041.6 59,554.7
Foreign currency translation 0.0 0.0 –0.2 0.0 –0.2 –0.4 0.0 –0.4
Change to scope of consolidation 0.1 0.0 74.0 0.3 9.6 83.9 0.0 84.0
Additions 2.3 –0.1 2.9 0.1 0.0 5.2 3,392.2 3,397.4
Disposals –223.6 –175.5 –232.0 –18.2 –80.3 –729.6 0.0 –729.6
Reclassifications 635.5 1,019.5 434.1 5.8 457.0 2,551.9 –2,554.7 –2.8
End of the period 31. 12. 2015 16,761.1 23,851.1 7,080.6 1,564.8 5,166.6 54,424.2 7,879.1 62,303.2
of which leases 490.7 490.7 490.7
of which held as investments 101.4 165.9 267.3 267.3
of which undeveloped land 43.9 43.9 43.9

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2015 –9,205.1 –9,257.6 –4,594.5 –8.5 –2,210.8 –25,276.6 –2.4 –25,279.0
Foreign currency translation 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.3
Change to scope of consolidation –0.1 0.0 –44.1 0.0 –5.8 –49.9 0.0 –49.9
Depreciation –556.9 –770.7 –301.6 0.0 –123.3 –1,752.5 0.0 –1,752.5
Impairment –0.5 –2.9 276.3 –0.1 –2.6 270.3 0.0 270.3
Disposals 218.9 142.8 219.3 0.2 27.6 608.8 0.0 608.8
Reclassifications 0.0 0.6 –0.6 0.0 –1.0 –1.1 1.1 0.0
End of the period 31. 12. 2015 –9,543.6 –9,887.9 –4,445.1 –8.4 –2,315.6 –26,200.6 –1.2 –26,201.9
of which leases –328.8 –328.8 –328.8
of which held as investments –15.6 –15.6 –15.6
of which undeveloped land –0.5 –0.5 –0.5

Net carrying amounts 
31. 12. 2015 7,217.4 13,963.2 2,635.6 1,556.4 2,851.0 28,223.5 7,877.8 36,101.4

Acquisition costs
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 16,761.1 23,851.1 7,080.6 1,564.8 5,166.6 54,424.2 7,879.1 62,303.2
Additions 2.4 7.7 1.8 0.0 0.1 12.0 3,012.5 3,024.5
Takeover of Gotthard Base Tunnel 0.0 2,849.4 639.4 0.0 261.0 3,749.8 0.0 3,749.8
Disposals –395.7 –295.6 –191.0 –18.3 –35.5 –936.0 –0.1 –936.1
Reclassifications 424.5 1,402.9 423.4 39.9 561.6 2,852.3 –2,852.3 0.1
End of the period 31. 12. 2016 16,792.3 27,815.6 7,954.3 1,586.4 5,953.8 60,102.3 8,039.2 68,141.5
of which leases 170.4 170.4 170.4
of which held as investments 97.9 333.0 430.9 430.9
of which undeveloped land 41.8 41.8 41.8

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 –9,543.6 –9,887.9 –4,445.1 –8.4 –2,315.6 –26,200.6 –1.2 –26,201.9
Depreciation –568.0 –841.9 –351.4 0.0 –136.2 –1,897.5 0.0 –1,897.5
Impairment –2.0 –0.1 –0.1 0.0 –0.4 –2.5 0.0 –2.5
Disposals 391.7 224.9 177.4 0.3 27.5 821.8 0.0 821.8
Reclassifications 0.0 0.0 4.6 0.0 –1.1 3.5 0.9 4.4
End of the period 31. 12. 2016 –9,721.9 –10,505.0 –4,614.6 –8.1 –2,425.8 –27,275.3 –0.3 –27,275.7
of which leases –74.6 –74.6 –74.6
of which held as investments –20.8 –20.8 –20.8
of which undeveloped land –0.5 –0.5 –0.5

Net carrying amounts 
31. 12. 2016 7,070.4 17,310.5 3,339.7 1,578.3 3,528.0 32,827.0 8,038.9 40,865.9
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Tangible fixed assets under construction include CHF 1,088.3 million in prepayments (previous year: CHF 1,005.2 million).
Investments include public-sector investment grants for noise reduction and measures under the Federal Act on Equality for People with Disabilities in the amount of  
CHF 85.1 million (previous year: CHF 80.3 million).
Notes on non-cash investing activities: 
Tangible fixed assets under construction include non-cash transactions of CHF 5.2 million (previous year: CHF 6.6 million). The disposals of assets contain non-cash transactions 
amounting to CHF 37.0 million (previous year: CHF 0.8 million). Regarding land exchange, see Note 19 Financial assets.
Borrowing costs totalling CHF 18.5 million were capitalised in the reporting period (previous year: CHF 11.1 million). 
Notes on impairment: The impairment recognised relates to individual assets in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER 18.

On 1 June 2016, SBB AG took over the Gotthard Base Tunnel from AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd. The takeover increased the non-current assets of the 
Infrastructure Division by CHF 3,754.3 million and the current assets by CHF 2.0 million as the result of spare part purchases. This is an investing 
activity without effect on liquidity because the transfer is being financed by non-repayable loans from the public sector for financing the rail infrastruc-
ture. At the same time, investments in the tunnel excavation amounting to CHF 5,944.1 million were financed using public-sector investment grants. 
These were transferred to SBB AG on a net basis.
The increase of the value of tangible fixed assets is also attributable to the renewal and enhancement of infrastructure, for example for Cornavin– 
Eaux -Vives–Annemasse (CEVA), construction of the Eppenberg Tunnel on the Olten–Aarau line and enhancement work in the Zurich region. In 
addition, investments were channelled into expanding the vehicle fleet for regional and long-distance services as well as the construction of new 
investment properties in Zurich Europaallee, Altstetten WestLink and Geneva Pont-Rouge. Further additions resulted from investments in railway 
stations in Basel, Zurich and Bellinzona as well as the new construction or enhancement of railway maintenance facilities.
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21 Intangible assets.

CHF millions Goodwill Rights Software Intangible assets 
under  construction

Total

Net carrying amounts 1. 1. 2015 0.0 122.8 306.2 458.7 887.8

Acquisition costs
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2015 9.9 270.1 949.2 458.7 1,687.9
Change to scope of consolidation 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 1.8
Additions of intangible assets 0.0 0.0 0.5 198.5 199.0
Disposal of intangible assets 0.0 –0.5 –35.0 0.0 –35.6
Reclassifications 0.0 12.1 218.2 –227.4 2.9
End of the period 31. 12. 2015 9.9 283.4 1,132.8 429.8 1,855.9

Accumulated amortisation
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2015 –9.9 –147.3 –642.9 0.0 –800.1
Change to scope of consolidation 0.0 –0.6 0.0 0.0 –0.6
Amortisation 0.0 –11.1 –111.6 0.0 –122.6
Impairment 0.0 0.0 –2.5 0.0 –2.5
Disposals 0.0 0.4 32.6 0.0 33.0
End of the period 31. 12. 2015 –9.9 –158.6 –724.4 0.0 –892.9

Net carrying amounts 31. 12. 2015 0.0 124.8 408.4 429.8 963.1

Acquisition costs
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 9.9 283.4 1,132.8 429.8 1,855.9
Additions of intangible assets 0.0 0.0 0.8 175.7 176.5
Takeover of Gotthard Base Tunnel 0.0 0.0 4.5 0.0 4.5
Disposal of intangible assets 0.0 –0.8 –59.3 0.0 –60.1
Reclassifications 0.0 14.8 201.7 –216.6 –0.1
End of the period 31. 12. 2016 9.9 297.4 1,280.5 389.0 1,976.8

Accumulated amortisation
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 –9.9 –158.6 –724.4 0.0 –892.9
Amortisation 0.0 –10.9 –131.3 0.0 –142.3
Impairment 0.0 0.0 –0.1 0.0 –0.1
Disposals 0.0 0.8 55.4 0.0 56.2
Reclassifications 0.0 0.3 –4.7 0.0 –4.4
End of the period 31. 12. 2016 –9.9 –168.5 –805.1 0.0 –983.5

Net carrying amounts 31. 12. 2016 0.0 128.9 475.4 389.0 993.3

Intangible assets under construction include CHF 68.6 million in prepayments (previous year: CHF 68.5 million).

For explanations about the takeover of the Gotthard Base Tunnel, see Note 20 Tangible fixed assets and assets under construction.
The “Rights” category includes rights to joint international operations, water licences, construction and tunnelling rights, rights of way, etc. Intangible 
assets under construction comprise software projects and prepayments for water licences.
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22 Financial liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Short-term financial liabilities
Bank liabilities 632.5 228.5
Lease liabilities 200.0 39.2
Third-party loans 12.2 5.2
Federal government loans (commercial) 100.0 0.0
Loans from pension funds 200.0 0.0
Total short-term financial liabilities 1,144.7 273.0

Long-term financial liabilities
Bank liabilities 2,061.3 1,931.3
Lease liabilities 107.5 367.2
Bonds 150.0 150.0
Staff accounts 1,003.2 1,455.0
Loans from third parties 112.5 126.5
Federal government loans (commercial) 3,220.0 3,020.0
Loans from pension funds 1,399.3 1,469.3
Total long-term financial liabilities 8,053.8 8,519.4

Financial liabilities 9,198.5 8,792.3

Notes on non-cash financing activities: CHF 546.0 million of long-term financial liabilities was reclassified as short-term financial liabilities (previous year: CHF 127.1 million).
Non-cash market value and foreign currency adjustments on short-term and long-term financial liabilities amounted to CHF –3.2 million (previous year: CHF –0.4 million).
The conditions of the commercial loans from the federal government are in line with the requirements of the Federal Finance Administration.

In the reporting period, interest-bearing debt increased by CHF 406.2 million to CHF 9,198.5 million.
Investments made in rolling stock and real estate in particular led to an increase of loans with the federal government of CHF 300.0 million and  
an increase of bank liabilities of CHF 534.0 million. 
The balances in the staff saving account of SBB increased by CHF 451.8 million to CHF 1,003.2 million due to the change to a new provider.
The provident institution granted a short-term loan of CHF 200.0 million. The long-term loan from pension funds decreased by CHF 70.0 million 
(previous year: CHF 67.3 million). To secure this loan, all receivables from current and future rental agreements for selected SBB RailCity stations, 
including all the associated ancillary and preferential rights, were ceded to the SBB Pension Fund.
Bonds comprise bonds issued by Kraftwerk Amsteg AG (see the “Bonds” section under “Other notes”).

23 Public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Short-term loans
Federal government loans (interest-free) 0.3 0.3
Cantonal loans (interest-free) 0.4 39.0
Cantonal loans (interest-bearing) 5.0 0.0
Total short-term loans 5.6 39.3

Long-term loans
Federal government loans (interest-free) 17,341.8 12,827.1
Cantonal loans (interest-free) 1,579.0 1,400.5
Cantonal loans (interest-bearing) 6.0 11.0
Total long-term loans 18,926.8 14,238.6

Public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing 18,932.5 14,277.9
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For information on the change in the liabilities to the federal government as shareholder, please see section “Composition of the liabilities to the 
federal government as shareholder” (below).
The increase of interest-free cantonal loans relates to financing of the Cornavin–Eaux-Vives–Annemasse (CEVA) rail link and other projects to ease 
urban traffic congestion.

Composition of the liabilities to the federal government as shareholder.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans – Rail infrastructure fund (BIF) 15,755.3 0.0
Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans – Infrastructure fund 1,404.9 1,297.8
Interest-free and conditionally repayable other agreements with the federal government 181.9 6.4
Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans – Basic infrastructure requirement 0.0 4,052.1
Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans – “FinöV” fund for the financing of public transport 0.0 7,471.1
Commerical loans (see Note 22) 3,320.0 3,020.0
Total 20,662.1 15,847.4

On 1 January 2016, as a result of the referendum on financing and enhancing the rail infrastructure (FABI), the former loans granted by the federal 
government for financing the rail infrastructure were restructured in line with the requirements of the Federal Finance Administration. 
The increase of loans from the federal government is due above all to the takeover of the Gotthard Base Tunnel, at CHF 3,754.5 million (see note 20 
Tangible fixed assets and assets under construction). Moreover, the public sector financed the enhancement of the 4-metre corridor and the AlpTransit 
approaches. In addition, the loans increased as a result of the progress in construction for various projects concerned with the future developments  
of rail infrastructure (ZEB) and the strategic development programme (STEP).

24 Trade accounts payable.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Trade accounts payable
 to third parties 698.0 657.4
 to federal government as shareholder 6.0 0.9
 to associated companies 4.3 15.3
Trade accounts payable 708.2 673.6

25 Other liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Other short-term liabilities
Public-sector liabilities 89.1 84.6
Other liabilities 50.7 51.2
Total other short-term liabilities 139.8 135.8

Other long-term liabilities
Long-term deferred income 92.6 82.1
Pension fund liabilities in accordance with FER 16 847.5 898.8
Total other long-term liabilities 940.1 980.9

Other liabilities 1,079.9 1,116.7

In the reporting period, other liabilities decreased by CHF 36.8 million to CHF 1,079.9 million.
In connection with the restructuring of the SBB Pension Fund, pension fund liabilities recognised in accordance with FER 16 were drawn on by  
an amount equal to the restructuring contributions (CHF 51.3 million; previous year: CHF 52.0 million).
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26 Deferred income and accrued charges.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Ticket deferrals 652.7 629.7
Accrued interest payable 43.7 44.5
Accrual current income tax liabilities 5.0 1.5
Other accruals and deferrals 884.5 848.2
Deferred income and accrued charges 1,586.0 1,523.9

The item “Ticket deferrals” comprises the deferral of the remaining term of validity of GA travelcards (network season tickets), Half-Fare travelcards 
and point-to-point travel passes as well as the deferral of multiple-journey tickets.
The other accruals and deferrals comprise shares of income from sales outlets such as ticket counters and ticket machines credited to other licensed 
public transport companies as well as supplier invoices not yet received.

27 Provisions.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Short-term provisions 305.7 970.6
Long-term provisions 491.7 545.0
Provisions 797.4 1,515.6

Breakdown of provisions by purpose.

CHF millions Projected 
benefit 

 obligations

Environmen-
tal provision

Energy unit  Vacation/
overtime

Restructuring Deferred 
taxes

Other 
provisions

Total

Carrying amount at 1. 1. 2015 0.4 44.2 186.8 102.2 38.3 2.9 153.4 528.1
Foreign currency translation 0.0 0.0 0.0 –0.2 –0.1 0.0 –0.3 –0.6
Creation 0.1 0.0 276.3 9.1 28.1 0.2 112.8 426.7
Utilisation 0.0 –1.7 –5.5 –3.8 –1.5 –0.9 –59.7 –73.1
Release 0.0 –11.0 0.0 0.0 –10.9 0.0 –33.7 –55.7
Reclassification 690.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 690.1
Carrying amount at 31. 12. 2015 690.5 31.4 457.5 107.4 53.9 2.3 172.5 1,515.6
of which short-term 690.0 11.8 23.5 107.4 11.4 0.0 126.5 970.6
of which long-term 0.5 19.6 434.0 0.0 42.6 2.3 46.0 545.0

Carrying amount at 1. 1. 2016 690.5 31.4 457.5 107.4 53.9 2.3 172.5 1,515.6
Foreign currency translation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Change to scope of consolidation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Creation 0.1 4.4 0.0 11.9 13.4 1.4 79.1 110.2
Utilisation –690.0 –1.7 –23.5 –0.8 –3.7 –0.2 –46.8 –766.7
Release 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 –12.6 0.0 –49.1 –61.6
Reclassification 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Carrying amount at 31. 12. 2016 0.5 34.1 434.0 118.5 51.1 3.4 155.7 797.4

of which short-term 0.0 1.9 22.8 118.5 34.4 0.0 128.1 305.7
of which long-term 0.5 32.2 411.2 0.0 16.7 3.4 27.6 491.7

CHF 690.0 million from provisions for pension fund liabilities was employed for the payment to the SBB Pension Fund in connection with the “2016 
package of measures”.
In the course of SBB’s spin-off from the federal government in 1999, environmental provisions totalling CHF 110.0 million were recognised. In 2016, 
CHF 1.7 million was used for clean-up operations, while CHF 4.4 million was reserved for additional clean-up projects. 
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In April 2001, it was established that provisions totalling CHF 1.2 billion were required for the restructuring of the Energy unit. The provision has since 
decreased due to its utilisation for losses from sales of power stations and shareholdings, the recognition of losses from impairment on assets and  
its use for power generation costs that exceed the market price.
Restructuring provisions of CHF 13.4 million were recognised for liabilities from efficiency improvement programmes, particularly in infrastructure, 
passenger services and the Group-level units. An amount of CHF 12.6 million was reversed because jobs were found for affected employees within 
SBB or on the job market.
Other provisions comprise provisions for business and legal risks and provisions for insurance against claims. An amount of CHF 68.3 million was 
recognised for new claims. An amount of CHF 27.3 million was used for loss adjustment purposes. CHF 33.1 million of insurance provisions  
was reversed thanks to more favourable claims settlements. 

28 Change in net current assets affecting cash flow.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Increase/decrease of trade accounts receivable –251.5 110.0
Decrease of inventories and work in progress 3.3 36.7
Decrease/increase of other current assets 66.3 –11.1
Increase/decrease of trade accounts payable 34.8 –201.7
Increase/decrease of other short-term liabilities 99.6 –64.4
Change in net current assets affecting cash flow –47.5 –130.6

Pension fund information.

Employer contribution reserve (ECR) Nominal 
 value 

Waiver of use Recognised Creation  
2016

Recognised Result from 
ECR reflected  

in personnel 
expenses

Result from 
ECR reflected  

in personnel 
expenses

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 2016 2015

Corporate pension fund foundations 1.7 –0.9 0.8 0.0 1.1 –0.3 –0.2
Total 1.7 –0.9 0.8 0.0 1.1 –0.3 –0.2

Economic benefit/economic obligation  
and service cost

Surplus/ 
deficit

Financial 
share 

attributable  
to the 

organisation

Financial 
share 

attributable  
to the 

organisation

Recognised 
change 
versus 

previous year 

Contributions 
 deferred to  
the period

Service cost 
in personnel 

expenses

Service cost  
in personnel 

expenses

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 2016 2015

Corporate pension fund foundations 0.3 0.3 0.4 –0.1 0.0 –0.1 –0.1
Pension plans without a surplus/deficit 0.0 –847.5 –1,588.8 741.3 –1,043.3 –302.0 –283.8
Total 0.3 –847.2 –1,588.4 741.2 –1,043.3 –302.1 –283.9

Due to the restructuring measures of 2007 and 2010, a loan amount of CHF 1,399.3 million (previous year: CHF 1,469.3 million) is still owed to the 
SBB Pension Fund.
With the aim of safeguarding current and future pensions over the long term, the SBB Pension Fund lowered the technical interest rate and introduced 
generational tables, leading to lowering of the conversion rate, as part of the “2016 package of measures”. In the reporting period, SBB made a 
payment of CHF 690.0 million into the pension find to mitigate the impact of these measures. Nevertheless, the funding level of the SBB Pension Fund 
decreased to 104.6 % as at 31 December 2016 (previous year: 105.7 %).
The SBB Pension Fund has still not been restructured to the point where it is on a sustainable footing. Until it is on a sustainable footing, which 
requires building up a full fluctuation reserve, the “pension fund liabilities in accordance with FER 16” item will remain in place with the exception  
of the amounts used for current restructuring.
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Net debt.

CHF millions Note 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Financial liabilities 22 9,198.5 8,792.3
Loans for rail infrastructure financing 23 18,932.5 14,277.9
Total financial liabilities 28,131.0 23,070.2

less cash and cash equivalents and short-tem financial receivables –403.0 –540.2
Net debt 27,728.0 22,530.0

Change compared to the previous year 5,198.0 1,549.3

Net interest-bearing debt amounted to CHF 8,795.5 million (previous year: CHF 8,252.1 million).

Net debt increased by CHF 5,198.0 million (+23.1 %) in the reporting period. In particular, the increase comprises federal and cantonal loans providing 
CHF 4,654.6 million of funds to finance rail infrastructure projects, including CHF 3,754.5 million for the Gotthard Base Tunnel. New financial liabilities 
were used for investments in rolling stock and real estate, for financing additional maintenance of rail infrastructure and for the stabilisation payment 
to the SBB Pension Fund.

Other notes.

Contingent liabilities and pledged assets.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Sureties and guarantees 50.6 43.4
Vehicles included as collateral for EUROFIMA hire-purchase agreements 2,065.9 1,594.0
Other quantifiable liabilities 302.2 317.3
Total 2,418.7 1,954.6

Other quantifiable liabilities comprise statutory liability clauses, unpaid share capital and legal risks.

Other liabilities not included in the balance sheet.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Investment commitments 6,668.7 7,474.0
Energy purchase commitments 1,568.9 1,575.3
Other 1,436.7 1,620.5
Total 9,674.3 10,669.8

The reduction in off-balance-sheet investment commitments by CHF 805.3 million (–10.8 %) is largely due to payments made for ongoing rolling stock 
purchases in Passenger Traffic as well as the progress in construction activities in Infrastructure.
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Off-balance-sheet lease liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Due within 1 to 5 years 1.4 6.8
Total 1.4 6.8

Bonds.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

2.375 % Kraftwerk Amsteg AG bond 2006–2018 150.0 150.0
Total 150.0 150.0

Related party transactions. 

Transactions with the shareholder.
The federal government holds 100 % of the shares in SBB AG. For information on transactions with the shareholder, please see the section on 
public-sector grants.

Overview of public-sector funding.
In the reporting period, SBB received CHF 12,627.7 million in grants from the federal government (previous year: CHF 2,843.3 million) for commis-
sioned regional passenger services, for freight services to support the aim of transferring traffic from road to rail, and for investments in the railway 
infrastructure network (including maintenance and operations).
These break down as follows:

CHF millions 2016 2015

Grants for regional passenger services 293.6 280.3
Federal SLA grant for infrastructure – depreciation 1,241.3 1,081.6
Federal SLA grant for infrastructure – non-capitalised portions 165.9 165.5
Federal SLA grant for infrastructure – operating contribution 296.9 295.7
Contributions for non-capitalised portions of investments funded by special financing arrange-
ments 108.6 82.9
Federal government grants to SBB Cargo for freight 16.1 19.0
Total federal government payments reflected in income statement 2,122.4 1,924.9
Increase of federal government loans for financing of rail infrastructure 4,514.7 872.1
Non-repayable fund contributions for investments, especially Gotthard tunnel excavation 5,990.6 46.3
Total federal government payments 12,627.7 2,843.3

SBB also received the following from the cantons:
Grants for regional passenger services 330.9 322.1
Contributions for non-capitalised portions of investments funded by special financing arrange-
ments 13.1 35.7
Grants for infrastructure of subsidiaries (regional passenger services) 0.0 8.3
Total cantonal grants reflected in income statement 343.9 366.1
Increase of cantonal loans 139.9 145.0
Non-repayable fund contributions for investments 38.6 34.1
Total payments from cantons 522.4 545.1

Total public-sector funding 13,150.1 3,388.5

For information on the benefits credited to Zürcher Verkehrsverbund (Zurich public transport authority, ZVV), please see Note 2.
Refer to Note 20 regarding the takeover of the Gotthard Base Tunnel.
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Liabilities to occupational pension plans.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Short-term liabilities 202.5 1.6
Long-term liabilities 1,399.3 1,469.3
Total 1,601.8 1,470.9

The provident institution granted a short-term loan of CHF 200.0 million.
The loan to the occupational pension plan originates from the restructuring packages agreed to in 2007 and 2010. In the reporting period, repay-
ments amounting to CHF 70.0 million (previous year: CHF 67.3 million) were made. The interest expense amounted to CHF 58.8 million (previous year: 
CHF 61.5 million).

Transactions with AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd.
SBB AG holds 100 % of the shares in AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd. This company is managed by the federal government, as a result of which it is not 
consolidated. In the reporting period, SBB AG undertook work for AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd under the conditions stipulated by the Federal Office of 
Transport in connection with the construction of sidings for the Gotthard and Ceneri Base Tunnel works and for the commissioning of the Gotthard 
Base Tunnel, amounting to CHF 47.6 million (previous year: CHF 49.6 million). At the same time, AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd invoiced SBB for CHF 3.4 mil-
lion (previous year: CHF 11.9 million) for maintenance activities carried out on facilities owned by SBB. Moreover, in the reporting period, AlpTransit 
Gotthard Ltd transferred the capitalisable parts of the Gotthard Base Tunnel to SBB AG at the acquisition cost of CHF 3,754.3 million (see note 20 
Tangible fixed assets and assets under construction).

Financial instruments.
SBB’s long-term investment programme relating to rolling stock purchases and real estate development projects is refinanced on a matched-maturity 
basis wherever possible.
Interest rate and currency hedges are entered into for both current and planned investment programmes with corresponding financing arrangements. 
Variable-rate financing arrangements are generally hedged using interest rate swaps. Planned future financing arrangements are hedged with interest 
rate swaps already entered into today. To a lesser extent, option strategies are also used.
Individual currency hedges are entered into for larger projects running over several years. Short-term liquidity needs and cash flows arising from 
day-to-day business are offset at Group level, and only foreign currency risks relating to the remaining net positions are hedged in the market.
The following derivatives used to hedge foreign currency, interest rate and energy price risks were outstanding at the balance sheet date:

Instrument Purpose Contract
volumes

Assets Liabilities Contract
volumes

Assets Liabilities

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2015

Currencies hedging 925.9 7.3 9.4 1,110.8 9.7 20.3
Interest rates hedging 1,217.1 12.7 302.3 1,420.3 8.9 357.2
Other underlyings hedging 24.1 0.0 0.0 6.7 0.0 0.0
Total 2,167.1 20.0 311.7 2,537.8 18.6 377.5

As long-term interest rates remain low and the medium- and long-term trend remains uncertain, SBB is continuing to pursue a cautious financing 
policy.
New financing was raised primarily in the form of long-term fixed-rate loans. Floating-rate financing arrangements continued to be hedged using 
interest rate swaps.
Liabilities from interest rate hedging decreased compared with the prior year due to the early reversal of some interest rate hedging instruments during 
the reporting period. Long-term interest rates in Switzerland are very low or even negative and remain the reason for the negative value of the 
remaining interest rate hedging instruments.
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Intra-company hedging of transaction risks.
Corporate Treasury is responsible for management of currency risks across the Group. The net currency risks arising from the activities of the divisions 
and subsidiaries are hedged centrally by Corporate Treasury.
Intra-company currency hedging had the following consequences for the divisions in the reporting year; these were recognised in the income 
statement: 

CHF millions  2016  2015

Passenger Traffic –6.5 –13.2
Real Estate 0.0 0.0
Freight 2.0 17.3
Infrastructure –5.4 –15.7
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Information about risk assessment.

Risk management.
Swiss Federal Railways (SBB) operates a risk management system tailored to the needs of the Board of Directors and the Management Board as  
well as to medium-term strategic planning. As part of the risk management process, the main risks are identified and assessed at the different levels, 
and measures are defined for controlling the risks.
Risk management is understood to be a management task. Clear risk responsibilities are established by assigning each risk to a risk owner.  
The managers (as risk owners) are responsible for the operational implementation of risk management in their area of responsibility.

Corporate risk management.
Each year, the Management Board submits a risk assessment to the Board of Directors in the form of the Corporate Risk Report. This covers the 
primary risk exposure of SBB, amongst other things. The uniform risk clustering evaluation matrix in place throughout the Group provides the basis  
for standardised classification, evaluation and reporting on risks in accordance with SBB’s risk policy and the Group directive.
The Risk and Compliance Committee and the Board of Directors examined the Corporate Risk Report 2016 on 13 and 14 December 2016 and 
approved it.

SBB risk management and internal control system (ICS).
The internal control system (ICS) that has been implemented ensures that process owners carry out annual risk assessments of financial processes. 

Financial risk management.
The 2016 financial statements incorporate the following specific financial risks:

Market risks.
SBB’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as liquidity, counterparty, interest rate, currency and energy price risks. 

Liquidity risks.
Liquidity risk is the risk of not being able to meet current and future payment commitments on time or in full.
In order to identify liquidity risks systematically, SBB implements a rolling liquidity, foreign exchange and financial planning system that is continuously 
updated. Available liquidity is managed via central cash pools that concentrate SBB’s key accounts in Swiss francs and euros, and via short-term 
deposits. Any excess liquidity is invested with various financial institutions that have been assigned a short-term rating of at least A-2 by ratings 
agency Standard & Poor’s.
The majority of SBB’s external refinancing operations for commercial investments is effected with the Federal Finance Administration and EUROFIMA,  
a finance company created to support the development of European national railways and equipped with an additional guarantee from their owners.  
It grants loans exclusively to its shareholders or to transport companies guaranteed by one of EUROFIMA’s shareholders. 
The availability of federal government financing is governed by the service-level agreement for 2013–2016 and SBB’s Strategic Objectives as outlined 
by the Federal Council.
SBB also has credit lines with a number of banks to fund working capital.

Counterparty risks (credit risks).
Credit risk is defined as the risk of potential losses that arise due to counterparties becoming unable to meet their obligations. In order to minimise  
such losses, only financial institutions which have a Standard & Poor’s rating of at least A, or are protected by equivalent security structures, are used 
as counterparties for SBB’s investment and hedging transactions. In the interests of risk minimisation, there are also clear rules on contract limits  
per counterparty.
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Interest rate risks.
Market interest rate fluctuations have a direct influence on SBB’s investment income and financing costs. Corporate Treasury manages this risk  
by matching maturity profiles and influencing the mix of long-term fixed-rate financing tranches and floating-rate loans in combination with additional 
hedging instruments (swaps).

Currency risks.
The net currency risks arising from the activities of the divisions and Group companies are hedged centrally by Corporate Treasury. Corporate 
Treasury, for its part, hedges the currency risks with selected banks. It operates an internal and external limits system and checks compliance  
with this system.

Energy price risks.
Despite the fact that it produces most of its energy in-house, SBB is still partially exposed to energy price fluctuations through its sales of surplus 
energy and the purchases it makes in order to bridge periods of peak demand. This risk is hedged by futures transactions, swaps and forwards  
and to a lesser extent by options on future energy prices. 

Events occurring after the balance sheet date.
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 March 2017. No other events occurred between the balance 
sheet date and this date which have an effect on the annual financial statements.

Compensation payments by Real Estate to Infrastructure.
As part of the owner’s strategy for the period 2015–2018, SBB and the federal government agreed on the transfer of compensation payments from 
Real Estate to Infrastructure. Annual payments of CHF 150.0 million were specified in the service-level agreement with the federal government. 
This amount comprises direct payments to the Infrastructure Division of CHF 117.6 million and interest payments to the Group-level units totalling 
CHF 32.4 million. The Group-level units forward this interest income to the Infrastructure Division in the form of compensation payments.

Compensation payments by Real Estate for SBB Pension Fund restructuring.
According to a Message issued by the Federal Council on 5 March 2010 on the restructuring of the SBB Pension Fund, the payment of 
CHF 1,493.0 million made by SBB in 2007 must be financed by Real Estate. Real Estate makes a compensation payment to the Group-level units  
for these principal and interest payments in line with its results. In the reporting period, this amounted to CHF 270.9 million (previous year: 
CHF 180.5 million).

Segment reporting.
The segment report is broken down into the Passenger Traffic, Real Estate, Freight, Infrastructure and Group-level units. As in previous years, 
operating activity is largely confined to Switzerland. For this reason, there is no geographical segmentation. The segments contain the group 
companies in accordance with the list of shareholdings on page 120.
“Other income” includes the financial result, non-operating profit or loss, tax on income and minority interests.
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Segment information: SBB Group. 

1 January to 31 December.

CHF millions
Passenger 

Traffic Real Estate Freight

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Income statement
Operating income 4,853.4 4,899.1 787.0 778.2 978.9 951.3
of which

– Traffic revenues 3,269.2 3,256.1 0.0 0.0 903.3 870.0
– Public-sector funding 669.9 643.9 0.0 0.0 16.1 19.0
– Rental income from real estate 8.8 9.0 608.9 589.3 1.0 0.9

Operating expenses –4,660.6 –4,661.3 –556.5 –554.9 –978.0 –980.0
of which
– Personnel expenses –1,781.3 –1,757.6 –124.9 –126.2 –384.8 –396.9
– Depreciation –594.7 –583.1 –173.9 –160.9 –45.5 –49.1
– Rail-related operating expenses –1,064.8 –1,033.5 –0.8 –12.1 –301.3 –284.5

Operating result/EBIT 192.8 237.8 230.4 223.3 0.9 –28.8
Other income –53.5 –107.2 169.7 86.8 0.2 7.2
Compensation payments Infrastructure/PF loan 0.0 0.0 –388.5* –298.2* 0.0 0.0

Division/consolidated net income 139.2 130.5 11.7 11.9 1.1 –21.5

*  Compensation payment not including interest portion (CHF 32.4 million, previous year: CHF 32.3 million); including the interest portion, the compensation payment is CHF 420.9 million 
(previous year: CHF 330.5 million).

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities 704.0 642.2 –41.1 16.4 33.4 24.3
Cash flow from investing activities –575.0 –826.6 –374.4 –352.9 –16.6 –23.2
Free cash flow before public-sector financing  
of rail infrastructure 129.1 –184.4 –415.5 –336.5 16.8 1.1
Public-sector financing of rail infrastructure 30.3 19.9 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.3

Free cash flow after public-sector financing 
of rail infrastructure 159.4 –164.5 –415.5 –336.5 16.9 1.4

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Balance sheet
Assets 11,067.6 10,846.4 5,274.9 4,872.8 850.1 854.2
Current assets 2,782.7 2,543.9 48.2 34.4 211.0 188.2
Non-current assets 8,284.9 8,302.6 5,226.7 4,838.4 639.2 666.0
of which
– Vehicles 6,119.6 6,245.8 4.2 4.2 518.6 548.2
–  Trackbed, civil engineering, and railway 

installations 517.6 484.9 4.5 4.1 4.0 4.5
– Land and buildings 81.5 80.2 3,449.7 3,102.1 13.5 13.5
–  Tangible fixed assets under construction  

and prepayments 1,007.7 951.9 1,233.5 1,293.0 19.8 21.3

Equity and liabilities 11,067.6 10,846.4 5,274.9 4,872.8 850.1 854.2
Liabilities 5,898.1 5,816.9 4,478.6 4,088.2 545.4 551.3
of which
– Financial liabilities 3,902.8 3,822.2 4,315.6 3,900.1 372.2 375.3
–  Public-sector loans for rail infrastructure 

financing 507.3 510.3 0.0 0.0 1.2 1.1
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Infrastructure
Group-level 

units Eliminations Total SBB

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

4,040.9 3,906.8 1,051.0 1,011.4 –2,723.4 –2,760.5 8,987.7 8,786.2

1,143.8 1,122.5 0.0 0.0 –1,170.5 –1,139.8 4,145.9 4,108.9
1,780.3 1,628.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,466.3 2,291.0

0.8 0.6 0.0 0.0 –161.6 –159.7 458.0 440.1

–4,281.9 –4,123.9 –973.6 –947.4 2,751.2 2,788.2 –8,699.5 –8,479.3

–1,566.9 –1,542.5 –494.5 –476.6 184.3 178.6 –4,168.1 –4,121.0
–1,281.0 –1,115.6 –36.2 –32.4 0.9 0.9 –2,130.3 –1,940.1

–53.2 –56.5 –2.5 –2.2 1,118.4 1,101.3 –304.1 –287.5

–241.1 –217.1 77.4 64.1 27.8 27.7 288.2 306.9
–11.7 –29.2 13.3 8.0 –25.6 –26.8 92.5 –61.2
150.0 150.0 238.5 148.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

–102.8 –96.3 329.2 220.2 2.2 0.9 380.6 245.7

–141.2 –26.8 –377.0 146.3 0.0 0.0 178.1 802.5
–2,039.7 –2,141.9 146.0 –53.8 0.0 0.0 –2,859.7 –3,398.5

–2,180.9 –2,168.7 –231.0 92.5 0.0 0.0 –2,681.6 –2,596.0
2,111.6 2,053.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,142.0 2,073.4

–69.4 –115.4 –231.0 92.5 0.0 0.0 –539.7 –522.6

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

28,451.3 23,817.5 10,208.6 10,043.6 –11,544.7 –10,911.7 44,307.8 39,522.8
602.1 485.6 1,206.6 1,600.2 –2,788.2 –2,878.9 2,062.3 1,973.5

27,849.2 23,331.9 9,002.0 8,443.4 –8,756.5 –8,032.9 42,245.5 37,549.3

426.9 418.1 1.1 1.0 0.0 0.0 7,070.4 7,217.4

16,784.5 13,469.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17,310.5 13,963.2
1,544.4 1,194.2 18.2 19.2 –0.9 –1.9 5,106.3 4,407.3

5,772.9 5,608.4 5.0 3.3 0.0 0.0 8,038.9 7,877.8

28,451.3 23,817.5 10,208.6 10,043.6 –11,544.7 –10,911.7 44,307.8 39,522.8
20,522.9 15,786.4 11,995.4 12,159.9 –11,137.9 –10,502.7 32,302.5 27,900.0

882.7 886.9 10,772.2 10,195.7 –11,047.0 –10,387.8 9,198.5 8,792.3

18,424.0 13,766.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 18,932.5 14,277.9
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List of SBB shareholdings.

Group shareholdings and associates.

Company name Share capital
millions

Held by SBB
millions

Held by SBB
%

Held by SBB
%

Erf Seg

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Swiss Federal Railways SFR, Berne CHF 9,000.00 9,000.00 100.00 100.00 V
Elvetino Ltd, Zurich CHF 11.00 11.00 100.00 100.00 V P
SBB GmbH, Constance EUR 1.50 1.50 100.00 100.00 V P
Thurbo AG, Kreuzlingen CHF 75.00 67.50 90.00 90.00 V P
RailAway AG, Lucerne CHF 0.10 0.09 86.00 86.00 V P
öV Preis- und Vertriebssystemgesellschaft AG, Berne CHF 1.00 0.74 74.42 74.42 E P
Regionalps SA, Martigny CHF 6.65 4.66 70.00 70.00 V P
zb Zentralbahn AG, Stansstad CHF 120.00 79.20 66.00 66.00 V P
Sensetalbahn AG, Berne CHF 2.89 1.89 65.47 65.47 V P
Swiss Travel System Ltd, Zurich CHF 0.30 0.18 60.00 60.00 V P
TILO SA, Bellinzona CHF 2.00 1.00 50.00 50.00 Q P
Rail Europe 4A SNC, Paris EUR 0.92 0.46 50.00 50.00 E P
Cisalpino SA, Muri bei Bern CHF 0.10 0.05 50.00 50.00 E P
Transferis SAS, Annemasse EUR 0.04 0.02 50.00 50.00 E P
Rheinalp GmbH, Frankfurt am Main EUR 0.03 0.01 50.00 50.00 E P
BOS Management AG, Altstätten CHF 0.10 0.03 30.60 30.60 E P
Lyria SAS, Paris EUR 0.08 0.02 26.00 26.00 E P
STC Switzerland Travel Centre AG, Zurich CHF 5.25 1.26 24.01 24.01 E P
Parking de la Gare de Neuchâtel SA, Neuchâtel CHF 0.10 0.05 50.00 50.00 E IM
Grosse Schanze AG, Berne CHF 2.95 1.00 33.90 33.90 E IM
Parking de la Place de Cornavin SA, Geneva CHF 10.00 2.00 20.00 20.00 E IM
Swiss Federal Railways SFR Cargo Ltd, Olten CHF 314.00 314.00 100.00 100.00 V G
ChemOil Logistics Ltd, Basel CHF 1.00 1.00 100.00 100.00 V G
ChemOil Logistics GmbH, Weil am Rhein EUR 0.03 0.03 100.00 100.00 V G
SBB Cargo International Ltd, Olten CHF 25.00 18.75 75.00 75.00 V G
SBB Cargo Italia S. r. l., Milan EUR 13.00 9.75 75.00 75.00 V G
SBB Cargo Deutschland GmbH, Duisburg EUR 1.50 1.13 75.00 75.00 V G
RT&S Lokführer-Akademie GmbH, Duisburg EUR 0.10 0.08 75.00 0.00 V G
Gateway Basel Nord AG, Basel CHF 0.10 0.05 51.00 51.00 V G
RAlpin Ltd, Olten CHF 4.53 1.50 33.11 33.11 E G
Terminal Combiné Chavornay SA (TERCO), Chavornay CHF 1.04 0.28 27.04 27.04 E G
Hupac Ltd, Chiasso CHF 20.00 4.77 23.85 23.85 E G
Etzelwerk AG, Einsiedeln CHF 20.00 20.00 100.00 100.00 V I
AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd, Lucerne CHF 5.00 5.00 100.00 100.00 E I
Kraftwerk Amsteg AG, Silenen CHF 80.00 72.00 90.00 90.00 V I
Kraftwerk Wassen AG, Wassen CHF 16.00 14.40 90.00 90.00 V I
Ritom SA, Quinto CHF 46.50 34.88 75.00 75.00 V I
Kraftwerk Rupperswil-Auenstein AG, Aarau CHF 12.00 6.60 55.00 55.00 V I
Securitrans, Public Transport Security AG, Berne CHF 2.00 1.02 51.00 51.00 V I
Kraftwerk Göschenen AG, Göschenen CHF 60.00 24.00 40.00 40.00 E I
Nant de Drance SA, Finhaut CHF 330.00 118.80 36.00 36.00 E I
Trasse Schweiz AG, Berne CHF 0.10 0.03 25.00 25.00 E I
SBB Insurance AG, Vaduz CHF 12.50 12.50 100.00 100.00 V KB
login vocational training Ltd, Olten CHF 1.00 0.69 69.42 69.42 V KB

Erf = Inclusion: Seg = Segment:
V = fully consolidated G = Freight
E = accounted for by equity method I = Infrastructure
Q = proportionate consolidation IM = Real Estate

P = Passenger Traffic
KB = Group-level units
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Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated  
financial statements.

   

 Ernst & Young Ltd 
Schanzenstrasse 4a 
P.O. Box 
CH-3001 Berne 

Phone +41 58 286 61 11 
Fax +41 58 286 68 18 
www.ey.com/ch 

 

 

To the General Meeting of  
Swiss Federal Railways SFR, Berne 

Berne, 3 March 2017 

 

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements  
 
 
 As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of Swiss Federal 

Railways SFR, which comprise the consolidated income statement, consolidated balance 
sheet, consolidated cash flow statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements (pages 90 to 120), for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2016. 
 

 

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the requirements of Swiss law. This respon-
sibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant 
to the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are rea-
sonable in the circumstances. 
 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing 
Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and dis-
closures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the con-
solidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 

 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows 
in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law. 
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Page 2 

 

 

Report on other legal requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Over-
sight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances in-
compatible with our independence. 
 
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we 
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 
 
We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 
 
 

   Ernst & Young Ltd 

 

  

Bernadette Koch  Florian Baumgartner 
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert 
(Auditor in charge)   
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SBB AG income statement.

1 January – 31 December.

CHF millions Note 2016 2015

Operating income
Traffic revenues 1 3,335.9 3,339.8
Public-sector funding 2 2,258.2 2,086.1
Rental income from real estate 465.4 448.4
Other income 3 928.3 976.8
Own work capitalised 1,081.7 1,095.2
Total operating income 8,069.6 7,946.2

Operating expenses
Cost of materials –688.9 –723.1
Personnel expenses 4 –3,593.9 –3,521.9
Other operating expenses 5 –1,678.3 –1,544.7
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets –1,849.3 –1,681.9
Amortisation on intangible assets –137.7 –139.7
Total operating expenses –7,948.1 –7,611.3

Operating result/EBIT 121.5 334.9

Financial income 46.8 33.2
Financial expenses –141.9 –211.1
Ordinary result 26.3 156.9

Non-operating income 222.6 140.6
Profit before income taxes 248.9 297.6

Income taxes –6.7 –4.2
Net income for the year 6 242.2 293.3
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SBB AG balance sheet.

Assets.

CHF millions Note 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 321.5 455.2
Trade accounts receivable 7 552.5 299.9
Short-term interest-bearing receivables 86.9 301.1
Other receivables 99.5 145.8
Inventories and work in progress 312.7 314.8
Prepayments and accrued income 539.7 481.1
Total current assets 1,912.9 1,997.8

Non-current assets
Financial assets 8 1,112.2 1,052.4
Shareholdings 757.8 722.8
Tangible fixed assets 30,602.2 26,010.4
Tangible fixed assets under construction 7,983.6 7,797.0
Intangible assets 924.5 903.3
Total non-current assets 41,380.4 36,485.9

Total assets 43,293.3 38,483.7

Equity and liabilities.

CHF millions Note 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Liabilities
Trade accounts payable 9 671.2 629.2
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 10 1,292.6 392.9
Short-term public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing 11 0.0 38.6
Other short-term liabilities 12 116.4 119.2
Accrued liabilities and deferred income 1,485.4 1,432.2
Short-term provisions 13 294.1 890.4
Total short-term liabilities 3,859.7 3,502.6

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 10 7,866.3 8,317.9
Long-term public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing 11 18,454.0 13,762.8
Other long-term liabilities 12 939.1 979.4
Long-term provisions 13 519.1 508.1
Total long-term liabilities 27,778.4 23,568.1

Total liabilities 31,638.2 27,070.8

Equity
Share capital 9,000.0 9,000.0
Legal capital reserve 
 Reserves from capital contributions 2,000.0 2,000.0
Special-law retained earnings
 Reserves in accordance with EBG 67 (Infrastructure) –38.4 84.4
 Reserves in accordance with PBG 36 (Regional Passenger Services) 158.5 163.5
Accumulated earnings
 Profit/loss carry-over 292.9 –128.3
 Net income for the year 242.2 293.3
Total equity 11,655.1 11,412.9

Total equity and liabilities 43,293.3 38,483.7
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Notes to the separate financial statements of SBB AG.
Detailed information on the financial statements.

0.1 General information.
These annual financial statements of Swiss Federal Railways SBB, Berne, were prepared in accordance with the commercial bookkeeping provisions 
of the Swiss Code of Obligations (art. 957–963b OR). The annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position,  
the results of operations and the cash flows.
Shareholdings are regarded as companies in which SBB AG holds a direct or indirect stake of at least 20 %.
The equity investors are the Swiss federal government as shareholder of SBB AG and organisations controlled by the federal government.

0.2 Projected benefit obligations.
SBB AG provides occupational benefits through the SBB Pension Fund. The SBB Pension Fund reported a funding level of 104.6 % as of 31 December 
2016 (previous year: 105.7 %). Benefit obligations of CHF 847.5 million were recognised as liabilities as of 31 December 2016 (previous year: 
CHF 898.8 million). As part of the “2016 package of measures”, CHF 690.0 million was paid into the SBB Pension Fund in the reporting period.

0.3 Benefits credited to the Zurich public transport authority (Zürcher Verkehrsverbund – ZVV). 
Federal government grants for infrastructure include benefits of CHF 52.0 million (previous year: CHF 52.0 million) paid to SBB AG which were  
passed on to the Zurich transport authority (ZVV) (“preferential compensation”). This sum is not directly linked to services performed by SBB AG but  
is forwarded in full to the ZVV by deducting it from the cantonal grants for regional passenger services in accordance with the disclosure practice 
specified by the Federal Office of Transport (FOT). 

0.4 Provision for Energy unit.
In April 2001, it was established that provisions totalling CHF 1.2 billion were required for the restructuring of the Energy unit. The provision has since 
fallen to CHF 434.0 million due to its utilisation for losses from sales of power stations and shareholdings and its use for power generation costs that 
exceed the market price. CHF 23.5 million was used in the reporting period.

0.5 Environmental provision. 
An expert report prepared by external consultants identified the need for SBB AG to recognise an environmental provision amounting to 
CHF 393.0 million as of 1 January 1999. In view of major uncertainties regarding the size of this provision, it was agreed with the federal government 
that the total amount of the provision should not be recorded on the opening balance sheet but rather an initial provision totalling CHF 110.0 million  
for clean-up costs be entered. Clean-up operations continued in 2016 and the associated costs, totalling CHF 1.7 million, were charged to the 
provision. At the same time, the provision for additional future clean-up projects in the reporting period was increased by CHF 4.4 million. As of the 
balance sheet date, the provision stood at CHF 34.0 million.

0.6 Provision for vehicle maintenance in Regional Passenger Services.
Regional Passenger Services receives public-sector funding for the services ordered that were not covered by passenger revenues. This includes  
the adjusted costs of vehicle maintenance. Effective costs do not arise at the same time as the grants are received, which means there is a difference 
with regard to the grants received. Up to 2015, this was assigned to the special statutory reserve, in accordance with the Passenger Transport Act.  
In accordance with the DETEC Ordinance on the Accounting of Licensed Companies (RKV), a provision will be formed for this difference from 2016 
onwards.
On its first application as at 1 January 2016, a provision of CHF 120.3 million was formed for maintenance costs previously settled in advance.  
The resulting loss incurred by the Regional Services branch which is entitled to receive the grant in 2016 will be taken from the reserve in line with  
the Passenger Transport Act on the basis of the application for appropriation of the unappropriated profit in the amount of the earlier allocation.

0.7 Income taxes. 
With the exception of auxiliary facilities and properties unconnected with SBB’s licensed transport activities, SBB AG is exempt from federal and 
cantonal taxes on earnings, capital, capital gains from sold property and real estate tax.
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Disclosures on balance sheet and income statement items.

1 Traffic revenues.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Passenger 3,022.2 3,015.5
Operating services 55.9 58.5
Infrastructure (rail track revenues) 257.8 265.8
Traffic revenues 3,335.9 3,339.8

2 Public-sector funding.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Grants for regional passenger services 
Federal government 221.1 210.3
Cantons 256.8 247.8
Total grants for regional passenger services 477.9 458.1

Federal government grants for the infrastructure from service-level agreement
Depreciation of infrastructure 1,207.8 1,057.6
Non-capitalised portions of investments 165.9 165.5
Operating grant for infrastructure 285.0 286.5
Total federal government grants from service-level agreement 1,658.8 1,509.5

Contributions for non-capitalised portions of investments funded by special financing 
arrangements
Federal government 108.5 82.9
Cantons 13.1 35.7
Total contributions to investments funded by special financing arrangements 121.5 118.5

Total contribution for rail infrastructure 1,780.3 1,628.1

Public-sector funding 2,258.2 2,086.1

3 Other income.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Services 206.0 196.7
Maintenance and servicing work 120.0 143.4
Rental revenue 57.3 56.8
Income from energy-related activities 69.7 76.1
Foreign currency exchange 37.5 39.0
Commissions 80.3 82.5
Sales of printed matter and materials 65.9 60.3
Cost participations 132.5 141.4
Sundry other income 158.9 180.7
Other income 928.3 976.8
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4 Personnel expenses.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Wages and salaries 2,503.6 2,492.3
Temporary personnel 464.2 414.6
Social security costs 467.8 460.6
Personnel expenses – Labour Market Centre AMC 2.8 5.7
Other personnel expenses 155.4 148.6
Personnel expenses 3,593.9 3,521.9

5 Other operating expenses.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Rail operations 169.3 171.8
Lease of assets 50.3 48.9
Third-party services for maintenance, repair and replacement 434.8 444.8
Vehicle costs 232.4 105.6
Energy expenses 199.9 185.6
Administrative expenses 97.3 94.8
IT expenses 180.0 184.0
Advertising costs 54.3 56.9
Licences, duties and fees 72.4 69.7
Input tax reductions on grants/public-sector funding 80.9 74.8
Sundry operating expenses 106.7 107.9
Other operating expenses 1,678.3 1,544.7

6 Net income for the year.

CHF millions 2016 2015

Net income/loss for the year from operations eligible for grants 
 Regional passenger services as per art. 36 PBG –53.7 –5.0
 Infrastructure as per art. 67 EBG –122.9 –140.8
Net income for the year (operations not eligible for grants) 418.8 439.0
Net income for the year 242.2 293.3

7 Trade accounts receivable.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Trade accounts receivable
 from third parties 334.1 254.5
 from shareholders 182.8 33.6
 from shareholdings 47.7 22.3
Bad debt allowances –12.1 –10.6
Trade accounts receivable 552.5 299.9
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8 Financial assets.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Securities classified as non-current assets 74.6 200.8
Loans to third parties 93.7 64.9
Loans to Group companies 942.7 749.3
Loans to associated companies 1.3 37.3
Financial assets 1,112.2 1,052.4

9 Trade accounts payable.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Trade accounts payable
 to third parties 628.8 581.0
 to shareholders 15.7 15.5
 to shareholdings 26.7 32.7
Trade accounts payable 671.2 629.2

10 Short-term and long-term interest-bearing liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Bank liabilities 2,749.0 2,215.1
Lease liabilities 307.5 406.4
Staff accounts 1,003.2 1,455.0
Interest-bearing liabilities to Group companies 179.9 144.9
Loans from federal government (commercial) 3,320.0 3,020.0
Loans from pension fund 1,599.3 1,469.3
Short-term and long-term interest-bearing liabilities 9,158.9 8,710.7

11 Public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans from the federal government –  
Rail infrastructure fund (BIF) 15,458.3 0.0
Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans from the federal government – Infrastructure fund 1,327.9 1,220.6
Interest-free and conditionally repayable other agreements with the federal government 175.9 0.0
Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans from the federal government –  
Basic infrastructure requirement fund 0.0 3,758.2
Interest-free and conditionally repayable loans from the federal government –  
“FinöV” fund for the financing of public transport 0.0 7,471.1
Cantonal loans 1,491.9 1,351.5
Public-sector loans for rail infrastructure financing 18,454.0 13,801.4
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12 Other short-term and long-term liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Short-term liabilities to public-sector bodies 71.9 71.9
Other short-term and long-term liabilities 44.5 47.3
Long-term deferred income 91.6 80.6
Pension fund liabilities 847.5 898.8
Other short-term and long-term liabilities 1,055.5 1,098.6

13 Short-term and long-term provisions.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Projected benefit obligations 0.0 690.0
Environmental provision 34.0 31.3
Energy unit 434.0 457.5
Vacation/overtime 90.6 85.5
Restructuring 25.8 21.6
Vehicle maintenance in Regional Passenger Services 124.3 0.0
Other provisions 104.4 112.6
Short-term and long-term provisions 813.1 1,398.5

The vehicle maintenance provision was formed again on 1 January 2016 with CHF 120.3 million (see Note 0.6 Provision for vehicle maintenance  
in Regional Services).  
In the reporting period, it was reduced by CHF 57.5 million due to maintenance work carried out. At the same time, the provision for vehicles without 
major maintenance work increased by CHF 61.5 million in the reporting period.

14 Net debt.

CHF millions Note 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Interest-bearing liabilities 10 9,158.9 8,710.7
Loans for rail infrastructure financing 11 18,454.0 13,801.4
Total borrowings 27,612.9 22,512.2

./. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term interest-bearing receivables –408.5 –756.3
Net debt 27,204.4 21,755.8

Change compared to the previous year 5,448.6 1,396.7
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Other notes. 

Full-time positions.
The average number of full-time positions for the year under review was 25,145 (previous year: 25,094).

Liquidity management.
SBB carries out Group-wide cash pooling. SBB AG participates in the cash pooling and is pool leader. The pool can exercise a lien on the credit 
balances (pool participant accounts) to guarantee its claims against the pool participants.

Remaining amount of off-balance-sheet lease liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Due within 1 to 5 years 0.2 6.5
Total 0.2 6.5

Other obligations not included in the balance sheet.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Due within 1 to 5 years 7,693.1 8,703.4
Due in over 5 years 1,918.3 1,655.4
Total 9,611.4 10,358.8

Other obligations not included in the balance sheet consist in part of investment commitments, energy purchase commitments as well as long-term 
leases for real estate and other assets.

Collateral pledged for third-party liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Sureties and guarantees 143.1 137.3
Total 143.1 137.3

Assets securing own liabilities and assets subject to retention of title.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Leased assets 95.9 161.9
Vehicles included as collateral for EUROFIMA hire-purchase agreements 1,754.1 1,222.8
Total 1,850.0 1,384.8
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Contingent liabilities.

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Liabilities from unpaid share capital 147.2 147.2
Statutory liability clauses 130.0 130.0
Other 119.6 163.1
Total 396.8 440.3

Hedging of transaction risks within the Group.
Corporate Treasury is responsible for managing currency risks throughout the Group. The net currency risks resulting from the transactions under-
taken by the divisions and Group companies are hedged centrally via SBB AG.

Events occurring after the balance sheet date.
The financial statements of SBB AG were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 March 2017. No other events with an influence on the financial
statements occurred between the balance sheet date and this date.
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 Information in accordance with the DETEC Ordinance  
on the Accounting of Licensed Companies (RKV).
SBB AG is subject to the DETEC Ordinance on the Accounting of Licensed Companies.

Amounts of cover for property and liability insurance (art. 3 RKV).
SBB AG has taken out property insurance with cover of CHF 400.0 million (previous year: CHF 300.0 million) and liability insurance with cover  
of CHF 400.0 million (unchanged year on year) for all business units.

Assets and assets under construction – Infrastructure (art. 7 RKV).

CHF millions Vehicles Trackbed, 
civil en- 

 gineering, 
and railway 
installations

Other 
tangible 

fixed assets

Land Buildings Intangible 
assets

Total 
tangible 

fixed assets 
and intangi-

ble assets

Assets 
under 

construc-
tion and 
prepay-

ments (incl. 
intangible 

assets)

Total

Net carrying amounts 1. 1. 2016  402.3 13,253.3 1,254.4 619.5 478.6 293.0 16,301.1 5,421.4 21,722.5

Acquisition costs
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 909.3 22,440.1 3,210.3 619.7 789.3 606.2 28,574.8 5,421.4 33,996.3
Additions 0.0 2,857.1 639.4 0.0 261.0 4.5 3,762.0 1,928.2 5,690.1
Disposals –13.0 –290.1 –56.9 –1.7 –6.0 –20.8 –388.5 0.0 –388.5
Reclassifications 56.0 1,315.3 230.0 13.7 99.8 71.2 1,786.0 –1,780.0 6.0

End of the period 31. 12. 2016 952.3 26,322.4 4,022.8 631.7 1,144.1 661.0 33,734.3 5,569.6 39,303.9

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of the period 1. 1. 2016 –506.9 –9,186.8 –1,956.0 –0.2 –310.7 –313.2 –12,273.7 0.0 –12,273.7
Depreciation –43.9 –800.0 –196.3 0.0 –21.2 –67.4 –1,128.9 0.0 –1,128.9
Disposals 11.7 220.0 48.4 0.0 4.9 17.3 302.3 0.0 302.3
Reclassifications –0.7 –0.1 –1.9 0.0 –0.2 1.8 –1.1 0.0 –1.1
End of the period 31. 12. 2016 –539.9 –9,766.9 –2,105.7 –0.2 –327.2 –361.6 –13,101.4 0.0 –13,101.4

Net carrying amounts 31. 12. 2016 412.4 16,555.5 1,917.1 631.5 816.9 299.4 20,632.9 5,569.6 26,202.5

Reclassifications include additions of assets from other SBB divisions amounting to CHF 4.9 million (net). For details on the asset addition  
of the Gotthard Base Tunnel, refer to Note 20 in the Group report.

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets and amortisation on intangible assets – Infrastructure (art. 7 RKV).

CHF millions  2016  2015

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 1,061.5 956.8
Amortisation on intangible assets 67.4 60.2
Write-downs of net carrying amounts from disposals of assets 74.9 38.9
Total 1,203.8 1,055.9

Investments – Infrastructure (art. 3 RKV).

CHF millions  2016  2015

Investments in assets 5,690.1 2,015.5
Assets acquired from other SBB segments 4.9 30.5
Non-capitalised portions of investment costs 287.5 284.0
Total 5,982.5 2,330.0

Investments include investment grants from the federal government for the Gotthard Base Tunnel excavation in the amount of CHF 5,944.1 million.  
In addition, the public sector provided investment grants for purposes such as noise reduction and measures under the Federal Act on Equality  
for People with Disabilities (BehiG) in the amount of CHF 85.1 million (previous year: CHF 80.3 million).
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Shareholdings.

Company name Share capital
millions

SBB AG capital  
and voting share  

millions

SBB AG capital  
and voting share  

%

SBB AG capital  
and voting share  

%

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Passenger transport and tourism
Elvetino Ltd, Zurich CHF 11.00 11.00 100.00 100.00
SBB GmbH, Constance EUR 1.50 1.50 100.00 100.00
Thurbo AG, Kreuzlingen CHF 75.00 67.50 90.00 90.00
RailAway AG, Lucerne CHF 0.10 0.09 86.00 86.00
öV Preis- und Vertriebssystemgesellschaft AG, Berne CHF 1.00 0.74 74.42 74.42
Regionalps SA, Martigny CHF 6.65 4.66 70.00 70.00
zb Zentralbahn AG, Stansstad CHF 120.00 79.20 66.00 66.00
Sensetalbahn AG, Berne CHF 2.89 1.89 65.47 65.47
Swiss Travel System Ltd, Zurich CHF 0.30 0.18 60.00 60.00
TILO SA, Bellinzona CHF 2.00 1.00 50.00 50.00
Rail Europe 4A SNC, Paris EUR 0.92 0.46 50.00 50.00
Cisalpino SA, Muri bei Bern CHF 0.10 0.05 50.00 50.00
Transferis SAS, Annemasse EUR 0.04 0.02 50.00 50.00
Rheinalp GmbH, Frankfurt am Main EUR 0.03 0.01 50.00 50.00
Lyria SAS, Paris EUR 0.08 0.02 26.00 26.00
STC Switzerland Travel Centre AG, Zurich CHF 5.25 1.26 24.01 24.01

Freight transport and forwarding
Swiss Federal Railways SFR Cargo Ltd, Olten CHF 314.00 314.00 100.00 100.00
SBB Cargo International Ltd, Olten (indirect) CHF 25.00 18.75 75.00 75.00

Power stations
Etzelwerk AG, Einsiedeln CHF 20.00 20.00 100.00 100.00
Kraftwerk Amsteg AG, Silenen CHF 80.00 72.00 90.00 90.00
Kraftwerk Wassen AG, Wassen CHF 16.00 14.40 90.00 90.00
Ritom SA, Quinto CHF 46.50 34.88 75.00 75.00
Kraftwerk Rupperswil-Auenstein AG, Aarau CHF 12.00 6.60 55.00 55.00
Kraftwerk Göschenen AG, Göschenen CHF 60.00 24.00 40.00 40.00
Nant de Drance SA, Finhaut CHF 330.00 118.80 36.00 36.00

Real estate and car parks
Parking de la Gare de Neuchâtel SA, Neuchâtel CHF 0.10 0.05 50.00 50.00
Grosse Schanze AG, Berne CHF 2.95 1.00 33.90 33.90
Parking de la Place de Cornavin SA, Geneva CHF 10.00 2.00 20.00 20.00

Miscellaneous
AlpTransit Gotthard Ltd, Lucerne CHF 5.00 5.00 100.00 100.00
Securitrans, Public Transport Security AG, Berne CHF 2.00 1.02 51.00 51.00
Trasse Schweiz AG, Berne CHF 0.10 0.03 25.00 25.00
SBB Insurance AG, Vaduz CHF 12.50 12.50 100.00 100.00
login vocational training Ltd, Olten CHF 1.00 0.69 69.42 69.42

Approval of the annual financial statements  
by the Federal Office of Transport.
In addition to auditing by the statutory auditors, the Federal Office of Transport has examined the items in the balance sheet and the financial 
statements that are relevant under subsidy law on a random-sample basis in order to check for significant misstatements. In accordance with  
their letter dated 17 February 2017, no issues were found which could lead to the conclusion that either the annual financial statements for 2016  
or the application for appropriation of the unappropriated profit fail to comply with the subsidy law and the associated special law.
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Proposed appropriation of available earnings.

The Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting that the accumulated profit as at 31 December 2016 be appropriated as follows:

CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Profit/loss carry-over previous year 170.0 –269.1
Withdrawal of reserves to cover loss in 2016
– Infrastructure as per art. 67 EBG 122.9 140.8
Profit/loss carry-over 292.9 –128.3

Net income 242.2 293.3
Accumulated profit before withdrawals from reserves 535.1 165.0

Appropriation of remaining accumulated profit
Withdrawal from reserves from 2016 net income  
– Regional Passenger Services as per art. 36 PBG 53.7 5.0
– Regional Passenger Services: withdrawal for provisions for vehicle maintenance 106.2 0.0

To be carried forward 695.0 170.0
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Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements.

   

 Ernst & Young Ltd 
Schanzenstrasse 4a 
P.O. Box 
CH-3001 Berne 

Phone +41 58 286 61 11 
Fax +41 58 286 68 18 
www.ey.com/ch 

 

 

To the General Meeting of  
Swiss Federal Railways SFR, Berne 

Berne, 3 March 2017 

 

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 
 
 
 As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of Swiss Federal Railways 

SFR, which comprise the income statement, balance sheet and notes (pages 123 to 134), for 
the year ended 31 December 2016. 
 

 

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in ac-
cordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control sys-
tem relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are rea-
sonable in the circumstances. 
 

 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and dis-
closures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial state-
ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor consid-
ers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 

 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 comply with 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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Page 2 

 

 

Report on other legal requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Over-
sight Act (AOA) and independence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances in-
compatible with our independence. 
 
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we 
confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of 
financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 
 
We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss 
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements 
submitted to you be approved. 
 
 

   Ernst & Young Ltd 

 

  

Bernadette Koch  Florian Baumgartner 
Licensed audit expert  Licensed audit expert 
(Auditor in charge)   
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